## $\cdot$ THE $\cdot$

# CONTINUUM Complete International ENCYCLOPEDIA OF SEXUALITY

# · ON THE WEB AT THE KINSEY INSTITUTE ·

https://kinseyinstitute.org/collections/archival/ccies.php RAYMOND J. NOONAN, PH.D., CCIES WEBSITE EDITOR

Encyclopedia Content Copyright © 2004-2006 Continuum International Publishing Group. Reprinted under license to The Kinsey Institute. This Encyclopedia has been made available online by a joint effort between the Editors, The Kinsey Institute, and Continuum International Publishing Group.

This document was downloaded from *CCIES at The Kinsey Institute*, hosted by The Kinsey Institute for Research in Sex, Gender, and Reproduction, Inc. Bloomington, Indiana 47405.

# Users of this website may use downloaded content for non-commercial education or research use only.

All other rights reserved, including the mirroring of this website or the placing of any of its content in frames on outside websites. Except as previously noted, no part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the written permission of the publishers. *Edited by*: ROBERT T. FRANCOEUR, Ph.D., A.C.S. *and* 

RAYMOND J. NOONAN, Ph.D.

**\_**>>0~4

Associate Editors:

Africa: Beldina Opiyo-Omolo, B.Sc.
Europe: Jakob Pastoetter, Ph.D.
South America: Luciane Raibin, M.S.
Information Resources: Timothy Perper, Ph.D. & Martha Cornog, M.A., M.S.

Foreword by:

3-0-2

**\_**}>:0:4;**\_\_\_\_** 

ROBERT T. FRANCOEUR, Ph.D., A.C.S.

*Preface by*: TIMOTHY PERPER, Ph.D.

*Introduction by:* IRA L. REISS, Ph.D. · THE ·

# CONTINUUM Complete International ENCYCLOPEDIA OF SEXUALITY

Updated, with More Countries



2004

The Continuum International Publishing Group Inc 15 East 26 Street, New York, NY 10010

The Continuum International Publishing Group Ltd The Tower Building, 11 York Road, London SE1 7NX

Copyright © 2004 by The Continuum International Publishing Group Inc

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the written permission of the publishers.

Typography, Graphic Design, and Computer Graphics by Ray Noonan, ParaGraphic Artists, NYC http://www.paragraphics.com/

Printed in the United States of America

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

The Continuum complete international encyclopedia of sexuality / edited by Robert T. Francoeur ; Raymond J. Noonan ; associate editors, Martha Cornog . . . [et al.].

p. cm.

A completely updated one-volume edition of the 4-volume International encyclopedia of sexuality (published 1997-2001), covering more than 60 countries and places, 15 not previously included.

Includes bibliographical references.

ISBN 0-8264-1488-5 (hardcover : alk. paper)

1. Sex—Encyclopedias. 2. Sex customs—Encyclopedias. I. Title: Complete international encyclopedia of sexuality. II. Francoeur, Robert T. III. Noonan, Raymond J. IV. Cornog, Martha. V. International encyclopedia of sexuality. HQ21.I68 2003

306.7′03—dc21

2003006391

# Contents

#### HOW TO USE THIS ENCYCLOPEDIA ....viii

FOREWORD ......ix Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D., A.C.S.

PREFACE ......xi Timothy Perper, Ph.D.

## AN INTRODUCTION TO THE MANY **MEANINGS OF SEXOLOGICAL**

KNUWLE	DGEXI	111
Ira L. Reiss,	Ph.D.	

ARGENTINA.....1 Sophia Kamenetzky, M.D.; Updates by S. Kamenetzky

#### 

Rosemary Coates, Ph.D.; Updates by R. Coates and Anthony Willmett, Ph.D.

# 

Dr. Rotraud A. Perner, L.L.D.; Translated and Redacted by Linda Kneucker; Updates by Linda Kneucker, Raoul Kneucker, and Martin Voracek, Ph.D., M.Sc.

#### Julanne McCarthy, M.A., M.S.N.; Updates by

the Editors 

Godisang Mookodi, Oleosi Ntshebe, and Ian Taylor, Ph.D.

#### Sérgio Luiz Gonçalves de Freitas, M.D., with Elí Fernandes de Oliveira and Lourenço Stélio Rega, M.Th.; Updates and comments by Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D., and Dra. Sandra Almeida, and Luciane Raibin, M.S.

BULGARIA......114 Michail Alexandrov Okoliyski, Ph.D., and Petko Velichkov, M.D.

#### 

Michael Barrett, Ph.D, Alan King, Ed.D., Joseph Lévy, Ph.D., Eleanor Maticka-Tyndale, Ph.D., Alexander McKay, Ph.D., and Julie Fraser, Ph.D.; *Rewritten and updated by the Authors* 

Fang-fu Ruan, M.D., Ph.D., and M. P. Lau, M.D.; Updates by F. Ruan and Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D.; Comments by M. P. Lau

José Manuel Gonzáles, M.A., Rubén Ardila, Ph.D., Pedro Guerrero, M.D., Gloria Penagos, M.D., and Bernardo Useche, Ph.D.; Translated by Claudia Rockmaker, M.S.W., and Luciane Raibin, M.S.; Updates by the Editors; Comment by Luciane Raibin, M.S.

Anna Arroba, M.A.

Aleksandar Štulhofer, Ph.D., Vlasta Hiršl-Hećej, M.D., M.A., Željko Mrkšić, Aleksandra Korać, Ph.D., Petra Hoblaj, Ivanka Ivkanec, Maja Mamula, M.A., Hrvoje Tiljak, M.D., Ph.D., Gordana Buljan-Flander, Ph.D., Sanja Sagasta, Gordan Bosanac, Ana Karlović, and Jadranka Mimica; Updates by the Authors

#### 

Mariela Castro Espín, B.Ed., M.Sc., and María Dolores Córdova Llorca, Ph.D., main authors and coordinators, with Alicia Gónzalez Hernández, Ph.D., Beatriz Castellanos Simons, Ph.D., Natividad Guerrero Borrego, Ph.D., Gloria Ma. A. Torres Cueto, Ph.D., Eddy Abreu Guerra, Ph.D., Beatriz Torres Rodríguez, Ph.D., Caridad T. García Álvarez, M.Sc., Ada Alfonso Rodríguez, M.D., M.Sc., Maricel Rebollar Sánchez, M.Sc., Oscar Díaz Noriega, M.D., M.Sc., Jorge Renato Ibarra Guitart, Ph.D., Sonia Jiménez Berrios, Daimelis Monzón Wat, Jorge Peláez Mendoza, M.D., Mayra Rodríguez Lauzerique, M.Sc., Ofelia Bravo Fernández, M.Sc., Lauren Bardisa Escurra, M.D., Miguel Sosa Marín, M.D., Rosaida Ochoa Soto, M.D., and Leonardo Chacón Asusta

Part 1: Greek Cyprus: George J. Georgiou, Ph.D., with Alecos Modinos, B.Arch., A.R.I.B.A., Nathaniel Papageorgiou, Laura Papantoniou, M.Sc., M.D., and Nicos Peristianis, Ph.D. (Hons.); Updates by G.J. Georgiou and L. Papantoniou; Part 2: Turkish Cyprus: Kemal Bolayır, M.D., and Serin Kelâmi, B.Sc. (Hons.)

Jaroslav Zvěŕina, M.D.; Rewritten and updated by the Author

#### Christian Graugaard, M.D., Ph.D., with Lene Falgaard Eplov, M.D., Ph.D., Annamaria Giraldi, M.D., Ph.D., Ellids Kristensen, M.D., Else Munck, M.D., Bo Møhl, clinical psychologist, Annette Fuglsang Owens, M.D., Ph.D., Hanne Risør, M.D., and Gerd Winther, clinical sexologist

Bahira Sherif, Ph.D.; Updates by B. Sherif and Hussein Ghanem, M.D.

#### 

Elina Haavio-Mannila, Ph.D., Kai Haldre, M.D., and Osmo Kontula, Ph.D.

Osmo Kontula, D.Soc.Sci., Ph.D., and Elina Haavio-Mannila, Ph.D.; Updates by O. Kontula and E. Haavio-Mannila

#### Michel Meignant, Ph.D., chapter coordinator, with Pierre Dalens, M.D., Charles Gellman, M.D., Robert Gellman, M.D., Claire Gellman-Barroux, Ph.D., Serge Ginger, Laurent Malterre, and France Paramelle; Translated by Genevieve Parent, M.A.; Redacted by Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D.; Comment by Timothy Perper, Ph.D.; Updates by the Editors

FRENCH POLYNESIA ......431 Anne Bolin, Ph.D.; Updates by A. Bolin and the Editors

<b>GERMANY</b>	<b>NEPAL</b>					
A. G. Bosinski, Dr.med.habil., and the Editor	<b>NETHERLANDS</b>					
GHANA	Updates by the Editors					
Augustine Ankomah, Ph.D.; Updates by Beldina Opiyo-Omolo, B.Sc.	<b>NIGERIA</b>					
<b>GREECE</b>	Uwem Edimo Esiet, M.B., B.S., M.P.H., M.I.L.D., chapter coordinator, with Christine Olunfinke Adebajo, Ph.D., R.N., H.D.H.A., Mairo Victoria Bello, Rakiya Booth, M.B.B.S., F.W.A.C.P., Imo I. Esiet, B.Sc, LL.B., B.L., Nike Esiet, B.Sc., M.P.H. (Harvard), Foyin Oyebola, B.Sc., M.A., and Bilkisu Yusuf, B.Sc., M.A.,					
HONG KONG	M.N.I.; Updates by Beldina Opiyo-Omolo, B.Sc. NORWAY					
ICELAND	Benestad, M.D.; Updates by E. Almås and E. E. Pirelli Benestad					
Soley S. Behder, K.N., B.S.N., M.S., Coordinator, with Sigrún Júliíusdóttir, Ph.D., Thorvaldur Kristinsson, Haraldur Briem, M.D., and Gudrún Jónsdóttir, Ph.D.; Updates by the Editors	<b>OUTER SPACE and ANTARCTICA</b>					
INDIA	PAPUA NEW GUINEA					
INDONESIA	<b>PHILIPPINES</b>					
Elkholy, Ph.D. (cand.) (Part 2); Updates by Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D.	POLAND					
IRAN	the Editors <b>PORTUGAL</b>					
IRELAND	<b>PUERTO RICO</b>					
<b>ISRAEL</b>	and Glorivee Rosario-Pérez, Ph.D., and Carmen Rios RUSSIA					
ITALY	<b>SOUTH AFRICA</b>					
JAPAN	(Part 2); Updates by L. J. Nicholas, Ph.D. <b>SOUTH KOREA</b>					
<b>KENYA</b>						
MEXICO	<b>SPAIN</b> 960					
Eusebio Rubio, Ph.D.; Updates by the Editors <b>MOROCCO</b>	Jose Antonio Nieto, Ph.D. (coordinator), with Jose Antonio Carrobles, Ph.D., Manuel Delgado Ruiz, Ph.D., Felix Lopez Sanchez, Ph.D., Virginia Maquieira D'Angelo, Ph.L.D., Josep-Vicent Marques, Ph.D., Bernardo Moreno Jimenez, Ph.D., Raquel Osborne Verdugo, Ph.D., Carmela Sanz Rueda, Ph.D., and Carmelo Vazquez Valverde, Ph.D.; Translated by Laura Berman, Ph.D., and Jose Nanin,					

*M.A.; Updates by Laura Berman, Ph.D., Jose Nanin, M.A., and the Editors* 

#### UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND ......1093

Kevan R. Wylie, M.B., Ch.B., M.Med.Sc., M.R.C.Psych., D.S.M., chapter coordinator and contributor, with Anthony Bains, B.A., Tina Ball, Ph.D., Patricia Barnes, M.A., CQSW, BASMT (Accred.), Rohan Collier, Ph.D., Jane Craig, M.B., MRCP (UK), Linda Delaney, L.L.B., M.Jur., Julia Field, B.A., Danya Glaser, MBBS, D.Ch., FRCPsych., Peter Greenhouse, M.A., MRCOG, MFFP, Mary Griffin, M.B., M.Sc., MFFP, Margot Huish, B.A., BASMT (Accred.), Anne M. Johnson, M.A., M.Sc., M.D., MRCGP, FFPAM, George Kinghorn, M.D., FRCP, Helen Mott, B.A. (Hons.), Paula Nicolson, Ph.D., Jane Read, B.A. (Hons.), UKCP, Fran Reader, FRCOG, MFFP, BASMT (Accred.), Gwyneth Sampson, DPM, MRCPsych., Peter Selman, DPSA, Ph.D., José von Bühler, R.M.N., Dip.H.S., Jane Wadsworth, B.Sc., M.Sc., Kaye Wellings, M.A., M.Sc., and Stephen Whittle, Ph.D.; Extensive updates and some sections rewritten by the original authors as noted in the text

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ......1127 David L. Weis, Ph.D., and Patricia Barthalow Koch, Ph.D., editors and contributors, with other contributions by Diane Baker, M.A.; Ph.D.; Sandy Bargainnier, Ed.D.; Sarah C. Conklin, Ph.D.; Martha Cornog, M.A., M.S.; Richard Cross, M.D.; Marilyn Fithian, Ph.D.; Jeannie Forrest, M.A.; Andrew D. Forsythe, M.S.; Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D., A.C.S.; Barbara Garris, M.A.; Patricia Goodson, Ph.D.; William E. Hartmann, Ph.D.; Robert O. Hawkins, Jr., Ph.D.; Linda L. Hendrixson, Ph.D.; Barrie J. Highby, Ph.D.; Ariadne (Ari) Kane, Ed.D.; Sharon E. King, M.S.Ed.; Robert Morgan Lawrence, D.C.; Brenda Love; Charlene L. Muehlenhard, Ph.D.; Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D.; Miguel A. Pérez, Ph.D.; Timothy Perper, Ph.D.; Helda L. Pinzón-Pérez, Ph.D.; Carol Queen, Ph.D.; Herbert P. Samuels, Ph.D.; Julian Slowinski, Psy.D.; William Stackhouse, Ph.D.; William R. Stayton, Th.D.; and Mitchell S. Tepper, M.P.H. Updates coordinated by Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D., and Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D., with comments and updates by Mark O. Bigler, Ph.D., Walter Bockting, Ph.D., Peggy Clarke, M.P.H., Sarah C. Conklin, Ph.D., Al Cooper, Ph.D., Martha Cornog, M.A., M.S., Susan Dudley, Ph.D., Warren Farrell, Ph.D., James R. Fleckenstein, Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D., Patricia Goodson, Ph.D., Erica Goodstone, Ph.D., Karen Allyn Gordon, M.P.H., Ph.D. (cand.), Eric Griffin-Shelley, Ph.D., Robert W. Hatfield, Ph.D., Loraine Hutchins, Ph.D., Michael Hyde, M.F.A., Ph.D. (cand.), Ariadne (Ari) Kane, Ed.D., Patricia Barthalow Koch, Ph.D., John Money, Ph.D., Charlene L. Muehlenhard, Ph.D., Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D., Miguel A. Pérez, Ph.D., Helda L. Pinzón-Pérez, Ph.D., William Prendergast, Ph.D., Ruth Rubenstein, Ph.D., Herbert P. Samuels, Ph.D., William Taverner, M.A., David L. Weis, Ph.D., C. Christine Wheeler, Ph.D., and Walter Williams, Ph.D.

**LAST-MINUTE DEVELOPMENTS**......1363 Added by the Editors after the manuscript had been typeset

#### GLOBAL TRENDS: SOME FINAL IMPRESSIONS......1373

Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D., and Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D.

CONTRIBUTORS and ACKNOWLEDGMENTS......1377

AN INTERNATIONAL DIRECTORY OF SEXOLOGICAL ORGANIZATIONS, ASSOCIATIONS, AND INSTITUTES......1394 Compiled by Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D.

**INDEX** ......1405

For updates, corrections, and links to many of the sites referenced in these chapters, visit *The Continuum Complete International Encyclopedia of Sexuality on the Web* at http://www.SexQuest.com/ccies/.

Readers of *CCIES* are invited to submit important news items or reports of findings of new sex research being done in any of the countries covered here, or any other country in the world. We will try to keep the SexQuest *CCIES* website updated with your help. Send items in English if possible, with appropriate citations, to Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D., CCIES Editor, Health and Physical Education Department, Fashion Institute of Technology, 27th Street and 7th Avenue, New York, NY 10001 USA, or by email to rjnoonan@ SexQuest.com.

# The Continuum Complete International Encyclopedia of Sexuality (Noonan & Francoeur, 2004)

\$195/£100 plus \$4.50/£9.50 S&H (save \$55 US/£30 UK!)

The 1,436-page, 1.5 million-word, single-volume Continuum Complete International Encyclopedia of Sexuality, edited by Robert T. Francoeur, Ph.D., and Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D., with contributions from 280 s nents, contains 60 countries and 2 extreme environments

- The 31 countries published in volumes 1-3 (1997 Argentina, Australia, Bahrain, Brazil, Canada, China, F sia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, India, Indonesia, Iran, Kenya, Mexico, Netherlands, Poland, Puerto Rico, Spain, Sweden, Thailand, Ukraine, United Kingdom,
- Plus the 17 countries and places published in volume revised: Austria, Colombia, Croatia, Cyprus, Egypt, Ic Morocco, Nigeria, Outer Space, Papua New Guinea, South Korea, Turkey, and Vietnam
- Plus 14 new countries and places: Botswana, Bulgaria, mark, Estonia, France, Hong Kong, Nepal, Norway, C Sri Lanka, Switzerland, and Tanzania

# ORDER FORM

Raymond J. Noonan, Ph.D., with contributions from 280 scholars on seven connents, contains 60 countries and 2 extreme environments:							
• The 31 countries published in volumes 1–3 (1997), updated & revi Argentina, Australia, Bahrain, Brazil, Canada, China, Finland, French Pol sia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, India, Indonesia, Iran, Ireland, Israel, Ja Kenya, Mexico, Netherlands, Poland, Puerto Rico, Russia, South Af Spain, Sweden, Thailand, Ukraine, United Kingdom, and United States	<sup>yne-</sup> LINCICLUI LUIA						
<ul> <li>Plus the 17 countries and places published in volume 4 (2001), update revised: Austria, Colombia, Croatia, Cyprus, Egypt, Iceland, Indonesia, I Morocco, Nigeria, Outer Space, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Portu South Korea, Turkey, and Vietnam</li> </ul>	taly,						
<ul> <li>Plus 14 new countries and places: Botswana, Bulgaria, Costa Rica, Cuba, I mark, Estonia, France, Hong Kong, Nepal, Norway, Outer Space/Antarc Sri Lanka, Switzerland, and Tanzania</li> </ul>							
Come see our other titles at: http://www.continuumbooks.com.							
<i>Special pricing available only with this page.</i> Print it out and take it to y school or local library and encourage them to add CCIES to their collection							
ORDER FORM	Continuum						
SHIP TO:	In North, Central, or South America,						
Name:	mail or fax this page to: Emma Cook,						
Address:	<ul> <li>Marketing Manager, Continuum,</li> <li>80 Maiden Lane, Suite 704, New York, NY 10038; Fax: 212-953-5944;</li> <li>Email: emma@continuum-books.com</li> </ul>						
	- Email: emma@continuum-books.com						
City: State: ZIP:	<ul> <li>Email: emma@continuum-books.com</li> <li>In the rest of the world, mail or fax this page to: Academic Marketing Department,</li> </ul>						
City: State: ZIP: BILLING INFORMATION:	<ul> <li>Email: emma@continuum-books.com</li> <li>In the rest of the world, mail or fax this page to: Academic Marketing Department, Continuum, The Tower Building,</li> </ul>						
	<ul> <li>Email: emma@continuum-books.com</li> <li>In the rest of the world, mail or fax this page to: Academic Marketing Department,</li> </ul>						

The CONTINUUM Complete

NTEDNATIO

	C	-										
Card Number	:									Exp. Date:		

Signature:

Telephone:

#### **ORDER DETAILS:**

Author/Title	ISBN	Special Price	Quantity	Subtotal
Francoeur/Noonan: Continuum Complete International Encyclopedia of Sexuality	0826414885	\$195/£100		
(Add \$4.50 first book; \$1.00 each additi	ional book/£9.	50 in U.K.)	Shipping	
(NY residents please add 8.375% sales tax; PA residents	s please add 6%	% sales tax)	Sales Tax	
			TOTAL	

# Denmark (Kongeriget Danmark) (The Kingdom of Denmark)

Christian Graugaard, M.D., Ph.D., with Lene Falgaard Eplov, M.D., Ph.D., Annamaria Giraldi, M.D., Ph.D., Ellids Kristensen, M.D., Else Munck, M.D., Bo Møhl, clinical psychologist, Annette Fuglsang Owens, M.D., Ph.D., Hanne Risør, M.D., and Gerd Winther, clinical sexologist\*

#### Contents

- Demographics and a Brief Historical Perspective 329 1. Basic Sexological Premises 330
- 2. Religious, Ethnic, and Gender Factors
- Affecting Sexuality 331
- 3. Knowledge and Education about Sexuality 331
- 4. Autoerotic Behaviors and Patterns 331
- 5. Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors 331
- 6. Homoerotic, Homosexual, and Bisexual Behaviors 334
- 7. Gender Diversity and Transgender Issues 335
- 8. Significant Unconventional Sexual Behaviors 336
- 9. Contraception, Abortion, and Population Planning 337
- **10.** Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS 339
- 11. Sexual Dysfunctions, Counseling, and Therapies 340
- **12.** Sex Research and Advanced Professional Education 341 References and Suggested Readings 342

Demographics and a Brief Historical Perspective ANNETTE FUGLSANG OWENS

#### **A. Demographics**

Once the seat of Viking raiders and later a major European power, Denmark is located in northwestern Europe, with the southern tip of Sweden to its east, Germany to the south, Norway to the north, and Great Britain to the west. Denmark occupies the Jutland Peninsula north of Germany, and the major islands of Zealand and Funen, plus hundreds of smaller islands. The North Sea separates Denmark from Great Britain on the west, while to the north and east the Skagerak, the Kattegat, and the Baltic Sea separate it from Norway and Sweden. With a total landmass of 16,639 square miles (43,094 km<sup>2</sup>), Denmark is slightly less than twice the size of the state of Massachusetts in the United States and half the size of the state of Maine. The terrain is low and flat to gently rolling plains, and the climate temperate, humid, and overcast. Mild windy winters and cool summers predominate, interrupted by the occasional ice-winter, when islands can be reached by foot, and by periods of hot summer days, when air-conditioned facilities are longed for but rarely found. Whenever the sun shines, Danes are out to enjoy it.

In July 2002, Denmark had an estimated population of 5.37 million, with a quarter of the Danes living in metropolitan Copenhagen. (All data are from *The World Factbook* 2002 (CIA 2002) unless otherwise stated.)



(CIA 2002)

**Age Distribution and Sex Ratios**: 0-14 years: 18.7% with 1.05 male(s) per female (sex ratio); 15-64 years: 66.4% with 1.03 male(s) per female; 65 years and over: 14.9% with 0.72 male(s) per female; Total population sex ratio: 0.98 male(s) to 1 female

Life Expectancy at Birth: *Total Population*: 76.91 years; *male*: 74.3 years; *female*: 79.67 years

Urban/Rural Distribution: 61% to 39%

**Ethnic Distribution**: Scandinavian, Inuit, Faeroese, German, Turkish, Iranian, Pakistani, and Somali. Immigrants and their descendants constitute 7.4% of the total population.

**Religious Distribution**: Evangelical Lutheran: 95%; other Protestant, Roman Catholic, and Muslim: 5%

Birth Rate: 11.74 births per 1,000 population

Death Rate: 10.81 per 1,000 population

Infant Mortality Rate: 4.97 deaths per 1,000 live births Net Migration Rate: 2.01 migrant(s) per 1,000 popula-

tion Total Fertility Rate: 1.73 children born per woman

Population Growth Rate: 0.29%

HIV/AIDS (2000 est.): *New cases*: 258; *Overall incidence*: 4.8 per 100,000 population; *Adult prevalence*: 0.17%; *Persons living with HIV/AIDS*: 4,300; *Deaths*: < 100. (For additional details from www.UNAIDS.org, see end of Section 10B.)

**Literacy Rate** (*defined as those age 15 and over who can read and write*): 100%

**Per Capita Gross Domestic Product** (*purchasing power parity*): \$28,000 (2001 est.); *Inflation*: 2.4%; *Unemployment*: 5.3% (2000); *Living below the poverty line*: NA

#### **B. A Brief Historical Perspective**

From 10,000 to 1500 B.C.E., the Danish population evolved from a society of hunters and fishermen into an agricultural one. The missionary Ansgar (801-865) and, later, king Harald Blaatand (?-985) Christianized the country in the 10th century. Bishop Absalon (1128-1201) is regarded as the founder of the city of Copenhagen, the Danish capital, situated on the east side of the country.

The Danes formed a large component of the Viking raiders in the early Middle Ages and, for centuries, the Danish kingdom was a major European power. Denmark's power

<sup>\*</sup>Communications: Christian Graugaard: kack@post9.tele.dk; Lene Falgaard Eplov: falgaard@dadlnet.dk; Annamaria Giraldi: annamaria@giraldi.dk; Ellids Kristensen: ellids.kristensen@dadlnet .dk; Else Munck: else.munck@dadlnet.dk; Bo Møhl: bomoehl@ worldonline.dk; Annette Fuglsang Owens: info@cvillewellness .com; Hanne Risør: olerisor@post.tele.dk; Gerd Winter: gerd.winther @get2net.dk.

began declining when Napoleon (whom the Danes supported) was defeated, and the Congress of Vienna in 1815 gave autonomy to Norway and Sweden. Schleswig-Hostein withdrew from a union with Denmark in 1864, although Northern Schleswig rejoined Denmark in 1920. Iceland declared its independence in 1944, ending a union that began in 1380. The Faeroe Islands and Greenland, the latter being the biggest island in the world, are still part of the Danish Kingdom, but with their own home rule. Denmark has been a member of the E.C. (now the European Union) since 1973. A monarchy for more than 1,100 years (one of the oldest in the world), Denmark is currently ruled by Queen Margrethe II. Nine political parties, collaborating in coalitions and led by the Prime Minister, share political power. Medical health is primarily socialized, with a small, but growing private sector.

#### 1. Basic Sexological Premises CHRISTIAN GRAUGAARD A. General Concepts and Constructs of

#### Sexuality and Love

As other Western countries, Denmark has experienced a marked socioeconomic development over the last two centuries: from a classical agrarian society to a modern industrialized welfare state. Along with modernity came profoundly altered concepts of love, intimacy, sexuality, and gender, and broadly speaking, the process of sexual liberation came about in three distinct (yet historically closely intertwined) stages: the late-19th-century feminism, the inter-war sexual-reform struggle, and "the sexual revolution" of the 1960s. Today, Denmark is a peaceful and politically stable democracy, and although women in executive positions are still amply outnumbered by men, gender inequality is nowhere near bleak global figures. On the contrary, it can be argued that the "social gender" of Danes has been gradually obliterated over the past century, and in spite of persisting differences, it is generally acknowledged that males and females are *potentially* capable of discharging similar jobs and societal positions. Specific legislation on gender equality has existed since 1919, and currently the Ministry of Social Affairs is formally responsible for governmental surveillance of gender issues.

Today, Denmark is a predominantly secular country, and although well over 90% of the population belong to the Protestant Church, doctrinaire religious groups are scarce and have very little impact in public debate. In the rural areas of Jutland, however, Christian morals are still kept alive, having an impact on various levels of personal experience and conduct. On a whole, the Danish population is small (1.4% of the EU population), and uniquely homogeneous, and though issues of immigration have been vividly debated in recent years, immigrants and their descendents constitute only 7.4% of the population. Out of 5.3 million inhabitants, one fifth are below the age of 17, whereas 15% are older than 65. Seventeen- to 24-year-olds constitute slightly less than one tenth of the total population. Most Danes live in metropolitan areas.

During recent decades, Denmark, like other Western European countries, has been largely "postmodernized." Thus, "serial monogamy" has become a prevailing way of life, and a majority of adults cohabitate without being married. In 2000, 38,844 marriages were contracted, and the same year, a total of 14,394 couples were divorced. Unfaithfulness is generally frowned upon, but seemingly considerable numbers of Danes have had extramarital affairs: Among 60-year-old Copenhageners, 38% and 22% of males and females, respectively, stated than they had been engaged in extramarital relations at least once (Eplov 2002ab). A total of 1.4 million

adults live by themselves, and 120,000 (8.6%) of these have children. Thus, a growing subculture of singles has emerged among adult Danes. The availability of pornography has markedly increased since its decriminalization in the late 1960s, and similar to other Western countries, a certain "sexualization" of mass medias, art, and popular culture has occurred during recent years.

#### B. Basic Outlines of Sexual Behavior and Knowledge

Along with profound socioeconomic changes, a gradual relaxation of sexual attitudes and behavior has taken place among Danes: The median age of coital debut among women and men born before 1920 was 21 and 20, respectively, as opposed to 16 for both women and men born in 1960 or later (Jaeger 2000). Similar figures were reported by Fog (1994). For females born before 1920 and after 1960, respectively, the median interval between menarche and coital debut has decreased from seven to three years. The median lifetime number of partners for women and men born before 1920 was 1 and 3, respectively, and 7 for both women and men born after 1960. For women and men above age 75, 1% and 17%, respectively, have had more than 10 sexual partners, as opposed to 42% of both women and men under age 35 (Jaeger 2000). In sum, a marked liberation of sexual behavior has occurred over recent generations in addition to a striking leveling of former sexual gender differences. In 1976, the age of sexual consent was set at 15 for both homosexual and heterosexual relations.

On a legislative level, too, an overall air of sexual frisind (Danish for "free-mindedness") is detected. Sex education in schools has been mandatory since 1970 (see Section 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents), abortion was decriminalized in 1973 (see Section 9B/C, Contraception, Abortion, and Population Planning, Abortion and Teenage Pregnancies), and in 1989, same-sex partners obtained (almost) the same legal status as heterosexual couples (see Section 6, Homoerotic, Homosexual, and Bisexual Behaviors). Moreover, Denmark was the first country in the world to legitimize written pornography in 1967 (followed by pictorial pornography in 1969) (Kutchinsky 1989). Prostitution is no longer a criminal offense in Denmark, and it is estimated that a total of 5,000 transactions with female prostitutes take place every day. Further, 13% of Danish males claim to have been with a prostitute at least once. Among 40to 44-year-olds, this fraction rose to 17% (Melbye 1992). Equivalent numbers were seen by Jaeger (2000). Male prostitutes are believed to constitute a total of only a few hundred persons. The number of migrant sex workers is apparently low, but internationally, Denmark is sometimes mentioned as a transit country for women who end up in prostitution in neighboring countries such as Germany and Holland. Though not in itself prohibited, prostitution is considered illegal vagrancy if the prostitute has no other means of income. Prostitution of minors is rarely seen.

Generally speaking, sexual and reproductive rights are both acknowledged and appreciated in Denmark, and sexual autonomy is taken for granted by younger Danes. Sexual curiosity of juveniles is widely accepted (many kindergartens have "cushion rooms" for children to fight and cuddle in privacy), although heated debates on the alleged "pedophile threat" have swept over Denmark (as it has in the rest of Europe and the US) during recent years. As previously mentioned, sex education in schools has been obligatory since 1970. The current sexual knowledge of adolescents is supposedly good, even though up-to-date didactic methods are called for. Thus, a quarter of youngsters still don't use any contraception at their first intercourse (Rasmussen 1999), and rates of chlamydia and venereal warts among adolescents are a matter of medical concern (see Sections 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents, and 10A/B, Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS, Basic Figures).

#### C. Danish Sexology

Danish sexology was founded in the 1950s, and Dr. Kirsten Auken's 1953 dissertation on the sexual behavior of young women is often considered the starting signal of serious scientific efforts. Foremost, however, it was her protégé, Dr. Preben Hertoft, who—inspired by Masters and Johnson and Helen Singer Kaplan—pioneered modern sex therapy in Denmark. In 1986, a Clinic of Sexology was launched at the University Hospital of Copenhagen (Rigshospitalet), and for more than a decade, Dr. Hertoft functioned as its productive chief physician. Though two more clinics were originally intended, the Copenhagen clinic is currently the only service of its kind in Denmark.

As of early 2003, clinical sexology was not approved as a medical or psychological specialty by central authorities, but recent efforts have been made by the Nordic Association for Clinical Sexology (NACS) to certify and authorize sexological specialists on various levels (see Section 11, Sexual Dysfunctions, Counseling, and Therapies). The NACS hosts annual meetings rotating among member countries and, additionally, the Second Congress of the European Federation of Sexology was held in Denmark in 1994. Between 1983 and 1998, NACS published a periodical, *Nordisk Sexologi [Nordic Sexology]*, subsequently replaced by the *Scandinavian Journal of Sexology*. Regrettably, this was given up in 2001. Currently, efforts are being made to relaunch a Nordic periodical of sexology.

The first Danish textbook on sexology was published by Dr. Hertoft in 1976. Though not revised since 1987, this book is still commonly used and has been translated into several languages (Hertoft 1987). In recent years, two thorough encyclopedias of sex and sexology have been published in Danish (Graugaard 2001; Hertoft 1989). A useful list of selected publications in non-Scandinavian languages (until 1994) was presented in a special issue of *Nordisk Sexologi* (1994, *12*:151-175).

#### 2. Religious, Ethnic, and Gender Factors Affecting Sexuality

See Sections 1, Basic Sexological Premises, and 5B, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adults.

#### 3. Knowledge and Education about Sexuality

See Sections 1, Basic Sexological Premises, 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents, and 10C, Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS, Sex Education and Legal Measures.

#### 4. Autoerotic Behaviors and Patterns

See Sections 5A, B, and C, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents, Adults, and Sexual Attitudes and Behavior of Elderly Danes.

# 5. Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors

#### A. Adolescents CHRISTIAN GRAUGAARD Coital Debut and Sexual Behavior

Classic studies of adolescent sexuality in Denmark were performed by Auken (1953) and Hertoft (1968), but since the appearance of the HIV/AIDS issue in the mid-1980s, several studies concerning sexual knowledge, attitudes, and behavior of youngsters have emerged (Wielandt 1993; Krasnik 1990). In 1999, a comprehensive questionnaire survey was carried out among 7,355 representative adolescent Danes, including more than 500 questions about sexual issues, such as experience and current behavior, use of contraception, sources of information, attitudes, and factual knowledge (Rasmussen 1999). This study provided healthcare persons, sexologists, and sex educators with valuable insights into the sexual world of young Danes, and the following is largely based on the major results of that survey.

The median age of coital debut (sexarche) among adolescent Danes is 16.8 years, and in all age groups from 13 to 25, girls tend to be slightly more experienced and active than boys. The age at coital debut has dropped about two years since the post-war period (Jaeger 2000; Fog 1994), but seemingly it has remained stable over recent decades. At the age of sexual consent (15 years), just about a third of both girls and boys have had their first sexual intercourse, whereas 7% to 8% of 13-year-olds claim to have had sex. At age 20, 8% and 13% of girls and boys, respectively, are still not sexually experienced. Despite Denmark being a small country, marked differences are seen between urban and rural youth-the former being significantly more experienced and active than the latter. Similarly, youngsters with an ethnic background (at least one parent not originally Danish) were considerably less sexually active than their same-aged peers with Danish parents. By far, this tendency was most striking for girls.

The primary motives for first sexual encounter included "being in love" (about two thirds) and "curiosity" (one third), but various kinds of pressure from partner or peers were also reported by around one third. A similar fraction claimed to be drunk at their sexual debut, whereas less than 5% were influenced by cannabis. Not surprisingly, sexual activity increased by age, and 56% of 20-year-old women (43% of men) claimed to have sexual intercourse at least once a week. A third and a half of girls and boys, respectively, had known their partner less than a month at their sexual debut, and similar fractions found it fully acceptable to have sex within a week of the first date. Only a small minority of youngsters had had more than 10 sexual partners—and a vast majority of both girls and boys insisted on (serial) fidelity.

Expectedly, the frequency of orgasm among girls increased with age. One third, reportedly, experienced an orgasm in the year of their sexual debut, whereas 60% considered themselves orgasmic five years later. No knowledge exists as to the masturbation habits of adolescent males, but among 13-year-olds, three fourths reported having ejaculated. Though still somewhat tabooed, masturbation is thought to be highly common among young Danes of both sexes. Less than 10% had anal sex on a regular basis, whereas the frequency of oral sex is unknown. Only about 5% reported having had intercourse with a partner of the same sex. Other same-sex experiences (i.e., petting and mutual masturbation), however, were not investigated and are believed to be quite common.

One fourth of youngsters did not use contraception of any kind at their first intercourse, whereas 61% used a condom; 14% used the pill, alone or combined with a condom. The lack of coital protection is a matter of great educational concern, and during recent decades, various safe-sex campaigns have been specifically targeted at adolescents (Wielandt 1993). The prevalence of unsafe sex decreased with age, and just 12% of all sexually active youngsters abstained from use of contraception on a regular basis. A considerable amount of sexually active youngsters (one third) had experienced failure of the condom, and one fourth of active girls had used postcoital prevention at least once. Just 7% of sexually active girls had had an induced abortion, whereas 9% and 5% of active girls and boys, respectively, had been diagnosed with chlamydia at least once. The last-mentioned number was considerably higher among youngsters with a minimum of 10 previous partners (see Section 10, Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS).

#### Sex Education

Surprisingly enough, more than half of girls and 70% of boys reported that sexual topics were "never" or "rarely" discussed at home. On the other hand, a vast majority— 96%—had received sex education in schools, and a total of 43% considered this both sufficient and relevant. By far, peers constituted the preferred forum for talks and discussions on sexual and emotional matters. As mentioned earlier, sex education has been mandatory in Danish elementary schools since 1970, but there are substantial differences in both quantity and quality of the didactic efforts made by single schools. Unfortunately, sex education only holds a scant priority at most teachers' colleges, and a majority of educators have actually never received formal preor postgraduate education prior to starting their teaching.

During recent years, efforts have been made to supplement official activities and, hence, reach youngsters with information and counseling by alternative means. In 1992, the Danish Family Planning Association launched an anonymous, nationwide hotline service for teenagers-the service is free of charge and it receives around 2,000 calls a year, mainly concerning "basic information" and "sexual problems." Considering the small population of Denmark, 2,000 calls to the FPA hotline is a substantial response. Moreover, interactive counseling on the Internet is gradually evolving, and a number of private or semi-private websites offer free sexual counseling to adolescents (Graugaard 1998). Gradually, new didactic methods are being developed for school purposes, too, including peer education, interdisciplinary teaching aids, and interactive computer games. The concept of ungdomsmottagningar (youth clinics) known in Sweden has not as yet gained ground in neighboring Denmark, but for many years, the Danish Family Planning Association has run a well-attended contraceptive service in downtown Copenhagen. Congenial clinics are found in other major cities.

As in other Western countries, youth culture has become increasingly diverse and polyphonic since the "youth revolt" of the late 1960s. Thus, no predominant or homogeneous trend is currently found within the teenage group, rather an ever-changing variety of mobile adolescent subcultures. Sexually, not least, conduct, codes, values, standards, role models, social conventions, self-staging, and modes of expression widely differ within various adolescent segments-from MTV-viewing "pop girls" to left-radical "autonomous," from Americanized hip hop boys to well-behaved, timid, middle-class girls. During recent years, concerns have been raised as to the possible pernicious effects of the increasingly "pornofication" of mass media and public spaces. However, the genuine harmfulness of late-modern conditions, including the shattering of gender roles and traditional family structures, still remains to be shown. On the contrary, it seems that Danish youngsters are competently coping with-and fully enjoying-the multitudinous cultural wardrobe of the Babylonian "fetish society." Moreover, teenagers seem to draw a clear line between the sexualized "kitsch" of the outside world and their own personal dreams, hopes, and expectations. Thus, in spite of their everincreasing sexualized appearances (i.e., diminutive dress codes, defiant piercing, and harsh diction), many youngsters express surprisingly conservative, romanticized ideals and stereotypes, rather than any urge to engage in extreme sexual practices. (See also Sections 1, Basic Sexological Premises, and 9B/C, Contraception, Abortion, and Population Planning, Abortion and Teenage Pregnancies.)

LENE FALGAARD EPLOV

#### **B.** Adults

#### Sexual Attitudes

Although officially a Protestant country, most Danes are brought up in a secular tradition with relaxed attitudes towards sexual matters. Only minor provincial communities maintain more-restrictive religious beliefs. The sexual attitudes of Danish people, however, are also influenced by old Nordic traditions, such as "night-courtship." Thus, for centuries, premarital sex has been common and accepted (Hertoft 1977). Altogether, Danes consider themselves sexually open-minded, and to some degree, this is supported by national legislation. As mentioned in Section 1B, Basic Sexological Premises, Basic Outlines of Sexual Behavior and Knowledge, Denmark was the first country in the world to legalize written pornography in 1967. In 1970, sex education in schools became mandatory. Abortion was legalized in 1973. And in 1989, registered same-sex partners obtained (almost) the same legal status as married heterosexuals.

Despite this liberal legislation, the sexual attitudes of adult Danes, however, cannot be substantiated by comprehensive, cross-sectional studies, and our current knowledge stems from smaller studies only. In 1996, the sexual attitudes of a representative group of 60-year-olds from Copenhagen County were examined. Around 60% of males found pornography to be stimulating. Fewer than 20% indicated that infidelity, group sex, sadism, masochism, homosexuality, transvestitism, transsexuality, and fetishism should be legally banned, whereas a vast majority indicated that zoophilia, pedophilia, exhibitionism, incest, and voyeurism should remain punishable (Eplov 2002a). Among women, 9% used pornography occasionally, whereas 60% claimed to be indifferent towards pornographic material. Around half of the women regarded infidelity as immoral, and 12% indicated that prostitution should be abolished. Practically all women labeled pedophilia, necrophilia, and zoophilia as "perverse," whereas two thirds labeled exhibitionism so. Around half of the women found sadomasochism, voyeurism, and group sex perverse, but less than 15% regarded homosexuality, transvestitism, and transsexuality as perverse (Eplov 2002b). These data among 60-year-olds cannot be considered representative for the general population, and results from studies among three female birth cohorts living in Copenhagen County indicated that younger women had more liberal attitudes towards sexual topics than older women (Fog 1994; Nielsen 1986ab; Garde 1980).

Sexual attitudes are obviously influenced by many factors, knowledge being one. Presumably, sexual knowledge has increased in the Danish population during the last decades, thus studies on the above-mentioned female birth cohorts (born 1910, 1936, and 1958) established that the fraction of people having received sexual information as juveniles decreased by age: 7% of the 1910 group, 6% of the 1936 group, and 61% of the 1958 group (Fog 1994). A nationwide study of adolescent Danes revealed that in the late 1990s, only 4% of youngsters had *not* received sex education in schools. Contrary to this, nearly a quarter of the girls and more than one third of the boys stated that they had not received sexual guidance at home (Rasmussen 1999).

#### Sexual Behavior

In Denmark, the patterns of intimacy have changed considerably over the past decades, from long-lasting marriages to serial monogamy. Figures from the National Statistics Department show that although the number of yearly marriages was a little over 35,000 in both 1951 and 2001, the number of divorces more than doubled, from around 7,000 to almost 15,000. Around 20% of the persons getting married in 2001 had been married before, and the average duration of a marriage was 11 years. As mentioned, registered partnership was legalized in 1989, and by late 2001, around 3,000 same-sex couples had been registered. Furthermore, an increasing number of Danes live alone, and in late 2001, around 37% of adult Danes, both men and women, lived by themselves (Danmarks Statistik 2002). See also Section 1, Basic Sexological Premises.

Concerning the number of sexual partners, Schmidt (1989ab) reported that 34% to 47% of Danish men aged 16 to 55 had had more than five female partners in their life. Within the past 12 months, 64% had had one female partner, 8% had two, 1% had 3 to 5, and 3% had more than five partners. In a study of almost 5,000 adult Danes, the median number of sexual partners was highest for men aged 30 to 34 (eight partners) and for women aged 25 to 29 (seven partners) (Melbye 1992). In a sample of Danes and Swedes, 1% and 17% of women and men over age 75, respectively, had had at least 10 partners in their lifetime. This was contrasted with 42% of both women and men under age 35 (Jaeger 2000).

The sexual behavior of Danes have only been well examined with regard to age of coital debut and risk behavior in relation to HIV/AIDS (Eplov 2002c). Since "the sexual revolution," one might expect that the age at sexual debut had decreased gradually, but studies reveal otherwise. Thus, the three female birth cohort study showed a decrease in sexual debut from women born in 1910 (average age at debut 21) to women born in 1958 (average age at debut 16) (Fog 1994). Representative studies among pupils in 9th grade in a municipality in Jutland showed no changes in the age of coital debut over 14 years (Boelskifte 2002b). Similar results were found in two representative studies among 16- to 20-year-old Danes from 1984 and 1989 (Wielandt 1993). In sum, a decrease in the average age at coital debut took place before 1980, with no real change in recent decades. See also Section 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents.

Since Danes have overall liberal attitudes towards sex, one might expect this to be apparent in their sexual conduct. The sexual activity of adult Danes, however, is only briefly illuminated by one nationwide study among citizens aged 18 to 88. This study demonstrated that a total of 81% were sexually active, falling off to 64% in the top age bracket (Ventegodt 1998). The incidence of masturbation, oral sex, and extramarital relations are only examined among metropolitan adults, whereas anal sex and the use of prostitutes are both examined in nationwide studies. Studies among 60year-olds have shown that 11% of male respondents masturbated weekly or more; 27% masturbated at least monthly, whereas 33% stated that they did not masturbate at all. Among women, 4% masturbated weekly or more, 7% at least monthly, and 75% did not masturbate. The three female age cohort study showed an age-dependent increase in the number of women having ever masturbated-the youngest being the most experienced (Fog 1994). Among 60-year-olds, 55% of men had experienced fellatio, 79% cunnilingus, and 12% anal intercourse. On the female side, 63% had tried fellatio, 80% cunnilingus, and 20% anal intercourse (Eploy 2002ab).

A national cross-sectional study by Melbye and Biggar (1992) showed that 22% of women had tried anal intercourse, it being most common (36%) among those aged 30 to 34. Further, more younger than older women reported having engaged in anal sex within the last year. The practice of anal intercourse was associated with a high number of male partners. Notably, a study of 23- to 87-year-old Danes and Swedes revealed that receptive anal intercourse was significantly more common among Danish (17%) than Swedish (3%) women (Jaeger 2000). Among 60-year-olds in Copenhagen County, 38% of males stated than they had been engaged in extramarital relations, while this was true for 22% of females (Eplov 2002ab). Figures from the three female birth cohorts revealed an increase in unfaithfulness from the oldest to the youngest women (Nielsen 1986ab, Garde 1980). In two representative studies, male use of female prostitutes was examined, showing that 13% to14% of respondents had had sexual contact with a prostitute once or more in their life (Melbye 1992; Schmidt 1989ab).

As for sexual satisfaction and frequency of sexual problems and/or dysfunctions among grownup Danes, Ventegodt (1998) found that 67% of females and 58% of males were "satisfied" or "very satisfied" with their current sex life. Eleven percent of women and 18% of men were "dissatisfied" or "very dissatisfied." A review from 2002 documented that even though the frequency of sexual problems and dysfunctions in the Danish population have been the issue of several studies, only one of these could comply with basic methodological requirements (Eplov 2002c). Subsequently, the frequency of sexual problems and dysfunctions among adult Danes is poorly established. In a representative sample of the Danish general population, Ventegodt (1998) found the following female complaints: reduced sexual desire (11%), pain/discomfort during intercourse (3%), anorgasm (7%), and vaginismus (less than 1%). Common male complaints were: reduced sexual desire (3%), erectile problems (5%), premature ejaculation (5%), and anorgasm (less than 1%).

#### C. Sexual Attitudes and Behavior BO MØHL of Elderly Danes

#### Sexuality in Old Age

In 2000, the mean life expectancy of Danes was 74 and 79 years for men and women, respectively. Because of improved standards of living, the numerical and relative fraction of old-aged persons in the Danish general population has increased dramatically during the 20th century (in 2000 15% of the population was 65 or older) and to quote the WHO, "years have been added to life" as well as "life to years." Thus, a growing number of elderly people experience more years in good health. Among 80-year-olds, however, there are five times as many women as men, obviously making it difficult for a widow to find a new male partner.

Despite the fact that modern Denmark holds liberal attitudes towards sexuality, there is a perpetual tendency to look down upon sexuality in old age. The sex lives of older people are often neglected or depicted as ridiculous or even disgusting. The reason is clearly a lack of knowledge, but presumably also because of children's profound resistance to acknowledge and accept the sexuality of their parents, extending their reluctance to any old person. Elderly people who identify with the cultural prejudices of asexuality will often repress their sexual impulses and desires, resulting in a subsequent loss of sexual capacity and self-esteem.

Only a few studies of the sexuality of elderly Danes exist. Recent surveys among 60-year-old women and men (Eplov 2002ab), however, describe attitudes and sexual lives of mature, urban people. A majority of both men and women had experienced different sexual practices during their lifetime, and relatively liberal attitudes existed towards sexual preferences such as homosexuality and transvestism. Pedophilia and incest, however, were deemed unacceptable. This is in accordance with the public opinion in Denmark and with the Danish edition of WHO's code of diagnoses (ICD 10), in which homosexuality and transvestism are no longer considered to be diseases.

Approximately, half of the women still felt spontaneous sexual desire once a month or more, and a similar number had intercourse at least once a month. Despite the fact that they had a partner, 11% of the women had no sexual activity. Further, in a sample of 66- to 75-year-old Danish and Swedish women, 45% were still coitally active, whereas the same was true for just 4% of the over-75-year-olds. A quarter of coitally active women in these age groups were still married. The same study revealed that just 1% and 17% of women and men over age 75 had had at least 10 lifetime partners, as contrasted with 42% of both women and men under age 35 (Jaeger 2000). In the above-mentioned studies of 60-year-olds (Eplov 2002ab), about half of the men felt sexual desire once a week or more. More than half of them had intercourse at least once a month. Eleven percent of women masturbated at least once a month, and 90% of these were fully orgasmic. Two thirds of men masturbated, 40% once a month or more.

#### Sexual Dysfunctions

The most common sexual problem among 60-year-old females was vaginal dryness (29%). Approximately, every tenth man of the same age had serious erectile problems, while 47% had never experienced this sort of problem. Ninety-five percent of women were satisfied with the way they had sexual intercourse; 68% of the men were content with their sexual life in general. Both sexes described a good sexual experience as more than just a matter of physical satisfaction. The contact with the partner and the circumstances surrounding the intercourse were considered equally important. In a study of 70-year-old women, 11% reported having a current sexual problem as opposed to 22% of 22-year-olds and 36% of 40-year-olds. One in ten 70-year-olds expressed a need for sexological treatment or counseling (Fog 1994).

Approximately, 80% of elderly people have at least one impairment or chronic disease (i.e., diabetes, cancer, dementia, cardiovascular, or rheumatic disease), affecting their sexual life and well-being negatively. Besides, many elderly persons take prescription drugs (i.e., SSRIs, antihypertensives, or painkillers), which may have negative impacts on their sexuality. Lack of knowledge and misunderstandings about sexuality in old age result in additional sexual problems. The age-related physiological changes of the body make adjustments in sexual practice and coital positions necessary. Especially for old persons brought up with a puritanical and negative attitude to sexuality, a change of deeply rooted habits and routines can be very difficult (Møhl 2002a).

In Denmark, there is a condescending saying about mature/old age: "Forty, fat, and finished." Sexually speaking, however, this motto should be changed to "Eighty, fresh, and fiery," as the chance that an 80-year-old has sexual interests and desires is much greater than the opposite. Though presumably, there are considerable variations in the sexual lives of elderly Danes, the majority are certainly *not* asexual. The contrary might well be the case. A change in attitudes is therefore called for, by laypeople as well as professionals (Møhl 2002b), and during recent years a public debate has occurred as to the sexual rights of elderly in nursing homes.

## 6. Homoerotic, Homosexual, and Bisexual Behaviors

CHRISTIAN GRAUGAARD

#### A. A Brief Historical View

During the Middle Ages, sexual same-sex relations in Denmark were solely a matter of church law, but after the Lutheran Reformation (1536), sodomy was tried by secular courts and punished in accordance with the Bible. Not until the Danish Code of 1683, however, was sodomy added explicitly to national statutes-it was considered a "contranatural act" and sanctioned by capital punishment. Interestingly, only a few cases of sodomy between males have been documented in the period before the penal code of 1835, and it seems that most sodomy cases were resolved discreetly by administrative means (for an informative overview, see von Rosen 1994). Between 1835 and 1866, 14 men were sentenced, but the death penalty was routinely commuted to hard labor by the Royal Chancery. The new criminal code of 1866 reduced the maximal penalty to six years of imprisonment, but in practice, punishment for sodomy between consenting adults was considerably milder, usually 8 to 12 months in jail. With the Civil Penal Code of 1930, adult same-sex relations were decriminalized, but not until 1976 was the homosexual age of consent lowered to the same level as the heterosexual, namely 15 years. Historically, sexual relations between Danish women have only been considered scarcely problematic and such behavior was never an object of specific legal interest.

As elsewhere in Europe, the early modern époque gave rise to "homosexuality" as a circumscribed social phenomenon with a distinct personality and lifestyle of male homosexual persons. Prompted by early continental sexology, the modern homosexual gradually came into being, and in Denmark, too, the views on same-sex relations shifted from a question of morality, sin, or crime to being strictly a medical and/or forensic concern. No longer was homosexual behavior something which deviant people *did*, but rather something they were. Inspired by the writings of Richard von Krafft-Ebing (1840-1902), Danish fin-de-siècle doctors considered "genuine" homosexuality (as opposed to moral depravation) a degenerative condition of the central nervous system, and most Danish psychiatric textbooks of the period offer detailed descriptions on the concept of "contraire sexual instincts." In the first decades of the 20th century, however, the medical focus shifted towards the internal glands, and ambitious theories about homosexuality as a hormonal disturbance were put forward. In Copenhagen, Dr. Knud Sand (1887-1968) substantiated these through an elegant series of gonad transplantations in rodents and birds. Like Austrian Eugen Steinach (1861-1944), Sand believed that (male) homosexuality could be cured by restoring a proper testosterone balance, and during the 1920s, a number of Danish homosexual men underwent surgical procedures with transplantation of "heterosexual" gonads. This hormonal-deterministic viewpoint culminated in 1929, when the Danish Parliament passed the world's first Act on Sterilisation. The primary aim of the new legislation was to sterilize on eugenic grounds, but the law also warranted surgical castration on sexual delinquents or simply on persons whose sexuality caused them "mental suffering" or "social disparagement." By the late 1960s, just over 1,000 men (and some 10 women) had been legally castrated. Out of these, approximately 100 homosexuals underwent castration solely on the grounds of "mental suffering." (See Sections 7, Gender Diversity and Transgender Issues, and 8, Significant Unconventional Sexual Behaviors.)

Though no way near the proportions of "neighboring" cities like Hamburg or Berlin, a male homosexual subculture (and a modest male prostitution) gradually evolved in late-19th-century Copenhagen. Little by little, certain bars, secret societies, and meeting points became notorious homosexual territories, and one of the central parks of Copenhagen (Ørstedsparken) is still frequently used as an "erotic oasis" for men seeking sex with men. Initially, this was barely tolerated by philistines, legislators, and law-enforcement officers, and several scandals swept over town before the outbreak of World War I. As late as 1947, an opinion poll revealed that 61% of Danes considered same-sex relations to be worse than drunk driving, burglary, forgery, and rape (Albaek 1998), and in the postwar decades, an overheated moral panic again focused on depraved and subversive gay men. Thus, in 1961, a change of the Civil Penal Code criminalized male prostitution for the paying party, when the prostitute was under 21 years of age. This led to a considerable increase in police harassment and enabled numerous cases of blackmail. This so-called Ugly Law (*Den Grimme Lov*) was abrogated by Parliament in 1965. In 1967, male prostitution, as such, was legalized.

In 1948, the first homosexual organization in Denmark, simply called The Association of 1948, was founded. The Association soon began publication of the periodical *Vennen* [*The Friend*], later succeeded by *Pan*, which is still published. In 1980, the original organization changed its name to Landsforeningen for Bøsser & Lesbiske (Danish National Association of Gays and Lesbians) and though never truly radical, the Association has successfully managed to put various gay-related issues on the political and societal agenda. In the beginning of the 1970s, more activist homosexual groups evolved, and especially Lesbisk Bevægelse (Lesbian Movement), to some extent succeeded in bridging hard-core feminism with a lesbian lifestyle.

#### **B.** Danish Homosexualities

Public attitudes towards homosexuality and homosexual persons have changed considerably since the sexual revolution of the 1960s. Thus, today the human rights of Danish homosexuals are (almost) on footing with heterosexuals. In May 1989, the Danish Parliament passed a pioneer bill on registered partnership between same-sexed persons, and on October 1, 1989, Axel and Eigil Axgil were married at the City Hall of Copenhagen as the first homosexual couple in the world. From 1989 to 1997, just over 5,000 individuals (two thirds males) were officially registered as partners (Frisch 2003). Despite legal equality, homosexual marriages are still not sanctioned by the Danish church. However, the atmosphere among Danish bishops is sympathetic towards ecclesiastical weddings, and priests are free to bless registered partners in their church. Unlike Sweden, Danish homosexuals are still not allowed to adopt (except for their own stepchildren), and following a fiery debate in the Parliament, it was decided that the Danish healthcare system should not assist lesbians in having children, nor should doctors be permitted to perform fertilizations of female same-sex couples. Still, a number of clinics, typically conducted by midwives, offer fertilization to lesbians with anonymous donor semen. The topic is still under debate, and a change of legal statutes is expected within a few years. Danish legislation explicitly bans sexual discrimination, and incidences of severe harassment or "gay bashing" are rarely heard of. In rural areas of Denmark, though, homophobia still abounds, and the Danish National Association of Gays and Lesbians hosts a telephone hotline for youngsters fearing to come out of the closet. Among urban 60-year-old males, 6% believe that homosexuality should be legally banned (Eplov 2002a).

According to recent studies, only 1.1% and 1.4% of Danish 31- to 33-year-old males and females, respectively, label themselves as homosexuals, while 1.3% and 1.6% claim to be bisexual (Ventegodt 1996). In a study of 18- to 88-yearolds, just 1% reported being homosexual (Ventegodt 1998). Among males aged 18 to 59, an overall 2.7% reported to have had homosexual intercourse. This percentage, however, was almost doubled in men aged 40 to 44 (Melbye 1992). Among Danish teenagers, about 5% of girls and boys reported to have had intercourse with someone of the same sex (Rasmussen 1999). Despite these marginal figures, the homosexual subculture in Denmark is broad and vivid, and in major Danish cities, several gay-friendly bars, cafés, clubs, saunas, and discotheques exist. Gay Pride Parades (so-called Mermaid Pride) are conducted every summer in the streets of the capital (in 1996, Copenhagen was the official European Pride City), and the World AIDS Day (December 1) is solemnized among both homosexuals and heterosexuals.

As in other Western countries, the gay and lesbian community is dispersed and manifold, with a virtual abundance of lifestyles open to view (Lofstrom 1998). Along with latemodern life conditions and the gradual demolition of sharp, mutually excluding sexual categories, homosexuality is being further de-dramatized. Thus, even though few Danes presently label themselves as homosexuals, it is generally agreed upon that same-sex relations will eventually appear in a more-relaxed manner among younger people considering themselves (and considered by others to be) heterosexuals. The modern homosexual man, therefore, may be a "ghost of the past," as more flexible and unpredictable sexual life forms evolve. This is a theme thoroughly investigated by the Danish sociologist, Henning Bech (1999ab, 1998ab, 1997).

#### 7. Gender Diversity and Transgender Issues

ELSE MUNCK

#### A. Brief Historical View

During the second half of the 20th century, knowledge of gender-conflicted persons has increased considerably in Denmark through art, literature, and the news media. Thus, as a predominant late-modern trend, the multiplicity of gendered roles, expressions, and behavior patterns are increasingly accepted, appreciated, and cultivated. Both individuals and subcultural groups are now challenging the traditional stereotypes of gender and curiously investigating and modifying the boundaries of traditional gender roles. Furthermore, transvestites, transgenderists, and transsexuals are no longer objects of prohibitions. There has been no Danish legislation against transgender behavior since 1966. A few years ago, the Ministry of Health even eliminated transvestism from the official diagnostic code.

In 1930, the Danish painter, Einar Wegener (1882-1931) became the first person in the world to undergo a partial sexchange operation in Dresden, Germany. Wegener was a patient of the German sex researcher Magnus Hirschfeld (1868-1935), and soon after the operation, he changed his name to Lily Elbe. Unfortunately, Elbe died following a subsequent operation, and though the circumstances remain unclear, it is possible that her death was caused by surgical complications. The first transsexual surgery in Denmark took place in 1952 on the American photographer George Jorgensen (1927-1988). Jorgensen had Danish ancestors and came to the country for hormonal treatment and possibly to have a sex-change operation. After the operation, she took the name of Christine Jorgensen, and the sensational affair became known all over the world-providing Denmark with a highly exaggerated reputation as a "transsexual paradise" for years to come (Meyerowitz 2002). Jorgensen later described "the Danish connection" in her autobiography (Jorgensen 1967).

#### **B.** Current Perspectives

At present, about five to ten individuals undergo sexchange surgery each year in Denmark. During recent decades, gender-conflicted persons tend to be ever younger when they confront authorities with their desire to change sex, often as young as 16- to 18-years-old. The number of females wanting to change sex is on the rise, and currently, the male-to-female and female-to-male cases have almost equalized. Previously, the ratio was relatively constant at about three to one. As of early 2003, a total of about 200 individuals have undergone a legal sex-change operation in Denmark. Additionally, an unknown number of Danish transsexuals are operated in other countries, mostly Thailand, Belgium, or England—by personal choice or because they were not legally accepted for surgery by the Danish authorities (Sorensen 1982; Hertoft 1978; Sturup 1976).

No specific legislation for cross-gendered persons exists in Denmark. Access to sex-reassignment surgery is regulated by a law originally from 1929 concerning sterilization and castration (see Section 6A, Homoerotic, Homosexual, and Bisexual Behaviors, A Brief Historical View). This law warrants voluntary castration in cases of potential criminal behavior or a considerable amount of "social disparagement" or "mental suffering." The person must be at least 21 years of age. By tradition, however, the age of 25 has been recommended before sex-change surgery can be permitted. Admittance to sex-change surgery requires clinical/psychiatric visitation during at least two years, often more. In almost all cases, this takes place at the Clinic of Sexology in Copenhagen, which is the national center for sexological research, counseling, treatment, and education.

On the whole, the visitation for sex-reassignment surgery follows the guidelines drawn by the Harry Benjamin International Gender Dysphoria Association. The applicant is counseled by a multidisciplinary professional team evaluating medical, psychological, and social issues. The object is to ascertain whether the person has a strong and persistent cross-gender identification and a persistent discomfort with his or her assigned sex. During the "real-life diagnostic test"-that is living as the opposite gender during at least one year-the person's ability to adapt him- or herself to the new gender role is observed. After one year, hormonal therapy may be instituted. Some transsexuals only desire partial surgical correction and some female-to-male transsexuals just want mastectomia and hormonal treatment. The transsexual him- or herself applies to the Department of Civil Law (The Ministry of Justice) for permission to change sex. The Department of Civil Law then consults the Medical-Legal Council (a board of psychiatric experts) before deciding on the matter. If a person is rejected he or she can try again, but there is no board of appeal.

At present, sex-reassignment surgery can only take place at the University Hospital of Copenhagen (Rigshospitalet). All expenses are covered by the state. Prior to the operation, the person may change his or her first name to a gender-ambiguous one. Not until after the operation, however, can identity papers, passport, and civil registration number be altered. The person is now legally considered an individual of the newly assigned sex and shares (almost) the same rights as other Danish citizens. Thus, transsexuals can marry, but would hardly be allowed to adopt children.

There are various Danish organizations fighting for the civil rights of transsexuals, transgenderists, and transvestites—and a number of gender-conflicted persons are affiliated with the FPE-NE, the Danish branch of Phi Pi Epsilon. Transgender people, however, are still quite invisible in public spaces and, though not legally or socially stigmatized to any great extent, the whole area of cross-gendering is still somewhat ridiculed.

An often-debated issue is the legal situation of transgenderists and transsexuals who live as the opposite sex waiting for (or not desiring) a full sex-change operation. For many years, a legal sex change could not take place prior to surgical reassignment. However, in March 2003, it was permitted for people to change their sex-specific civil registration number, birth certificate, and so on, without (or before) surgical intervention. Moreover, it has been argued that sexreassignment procedures should be further liberalized and surgical sex change made fully available for persons who are not psychotic or otherwise severely mentally disturbed. This, however, is still a matter of great medical and political controversy.

The medical, surgical, and psychosocial treatment of intersex people is not systematized in Denmark, but in many cases, the Department for Growth and Reproduction at the University Hospital of Copenhagen (Rigshospitalet) conducts the treatment and long-term follow-up of these patients. A nationwide study concerning the overall quality of life of intersex people was initiated at this department in 2001.

#### 8. Significant Unconventional Sexual Behaviors

ELLIDS KRISTENSEN

#### A. Coercive Sexual Behaviors

**Basic Statistics** 

In Denmark, just under 3,000 cases of sexual crime are reported to the police every year, and in approximately one third of cases, legal proceedings are instituted. In 2001, a total of 912 charges were pressed: offenses against minors (including 38 cases of incest) 29%, offenses against decency (including exhibitionism) 49%, and rape 22%. Just over half of the charges (497) resulted in a conviction or other legal measures. Only eight charges were raised against women, emphasizing the well-known male predominance in sexual crimes. The charges against female perpetrators concerned incest and offenses against decency, and only two of these resulted in legal measures.

Because of both international and domestic focus on incest and pedophilia, public as well as governmental awareness of this problem has been raised considerably during recent years. Thus, in 2000, a center for treatment of sexually molested children was established at the University Hospital of Copenhagen (Rigshospitalet), and many Danish counties now have professional committees that can be consulted in suspected or factual cases of child sexual abuse. Additionally, many voluntary groups offer support to adolescents and adults who have been sexually abused recently or as juveniles.

#### Child Sexual Abuse

A study of child sexual abuse in the Copenhagen area was undertaken two decades ago (Merrick 1985), and two studies have recently been published (Strange 2002; Helweg-Larsen 2000). Moreover, Leth (1988) established that out of 2,000 demographically representative 18- to 50-year-old Danes, sexual abuse before the age of 18 was reported by 14% of females and 7% of males. More than one third of instances were reported to have taken place within the family. Also, the specific problems regarding child sexual abuse in Greenland have recently been evaluated (Curtis 2002). In 1998, a multicenter study of women sexually molested as children was launched at five psychiatric departments—400 women participated in this program and follow-up studies are still in progress as of early 2003.

Decriminalization of pornography in 1967 and 1969 also legalized child pornography, and not until 1980 was sale and propagation of this kind of material prohibited. In 1994, the possession of child pornography, too, was made illegal, and in 2002, additional types of drawings and computer-generated material were criminalized. The correlation between pornography and sex offenses has been studied for decades in a Danish context, and not least in the case of rape and child abuse, results have indicated that availability of pornography might decrease the number of offenses actually committed (Kutchinsky 1991, 1989, 1973).

#### Rape and Sexual Harassment

With a total of 202 criminal charges in 2001, rape is still a major problem. The difficulties of producing conclusive evidence in rape cases are illustrated by the fact that only one third of the charges result in a conviction. This is, however, an increase compared to 1975, where only 18% of charges resulted in an actual conviction (Helweg-Larsen 1985). In 2002, the maximum penalty for rape was increased to12 years of imprisonment. Since 1999, a number of shelters for male and female rape victims have been established. These have led to an upgrading in the medicolegal and psychological management of rape victims. Victim-compensation laws give rape victims the right to compensation for damages in connection with the sexual assault. The frequency of unreported "acquaintance rape" is not known.

In recent years, a number of cases have been brought to court regarding sexual harassment, often conducted by trade unions on behalf of one of their members. Regularly, these cases catch the attention of the public, particularly if they involve politicians or other well-known persons. However, as no controlled studies of sexual harassment exist, it is difficult to estimate the true number of cases. Following the recommendations of the European Union, the Danish legislation was changed in 2002. Earlier, the alleged victim had to prove that sexual harassment had in fact taken place, but now he or she just has to make probable that sexual harassment has occurred, leaving it to the alleged offender to refute the accusation in order to be acquitted of the charge.

#### Treatment of Sexual Offenders

In addition to normal punitive measures, the Penal Institution at Herstedvester (Copenhagen) for decades has been treating violent sex offenders. Between 1929 and 1970, surgical castration was used in a total of 1,000 cases (Sturup 1971, 1968), but since then, the predominant treatment of sexual offenders has been intensive psychotherapy. Since 1989, a subgroup of sex offenders (3 or 4 annually) has received additional treatment with anti-androgens (Hansen 1997; Ortmann 1980).

The Sexological Clinic in Copenhagen has offered psychiatric/sexological treatment to sexual offenders since its founding in 1986. In 1997, a nationwide visitation and treatment network was established by the Danish Parliament in order to extend the psychiatric/sexological treatment to all those who had been convicted for a sexual crime and were found suitable and motivated. About 100 sex offenders are treated every year. The treatment is based on collaboration between the Department of Justice, the Ministry of Social Affairs, psychiatric-forensic departments in Jutland and Funen, and the Sexological Clinic in Copenhagen (Kristensen 2000). A follow-up report concerning the first five years was in preparation in June 2003.

#### **B.** Prostitution

See Sections 1B, Basic Sexological Premises, Basic Outlines of Sexual Behavior and Knowledge, 5B, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adults, and 6A, Homoerotic, Homosexual, and Bisexual Behaviors, A Brief Historical View.

#### C. Pornography

See Sections 1B, Basic Sexological Premises, Basic Outlines of Sexual Behavior and Knowledge, 5B, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adults, and 8, Significant Unconventional Sexual Behaviors.

#### **D.** Other Sexual Minorities

CHRISTIAN GRAUGAARD A Danish association for sadomasochists (SMil) was founded in 1979 and today, it has local branches in several Danish cities. SMil publishes a periodical, offers education and counseling, and hosts SM events of various kinds. Just like other sexual subcultures, sadomasochistic trends have been gradually mainstreamed through art, the media, and popular culture. Thus, public "fetish parties" have become quite popular in major cities during recent years, but it is unknown to what extent adult Danes engage in sadomasochistic behavior. However, it is suspected that mild forms of bondage are quite widespread, and a number of fetish shops have emerged in several Danish cities in recent decades.

Danish transsexuals and transvestites (see Section 7, Gender Diversity and Transgender Issues) are united in FPE-NE (the Danish branch of Phi Pi Epsilon), and associations for every conceivable sexual preference (such as infantilism, swinging, and all sorts of fetishism) abound. Because of the smallness of Denmark, however, these associations mostly have the form of private clubs, and only the Danish National Association of Gays and Lesbians—and to a lesser extent SMil—hold any genuine political and popular impact. A group of Danish pedophiles has launched Pædofilgruppen (Danish Pedophile Association), which hosts a website on the Internet (www.danpedo.dk). Though supposedly diminutive, the group has recently attracted vast public attention, and both political and non-political forces are currently trying to have it abolished.

See Section 5B, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adults, for other paraphilic behaviors.

#### 9. Contraception, Abortion, and Population Planning

#### HANNE RISØR

#### A. Contraception

Generally, Danish people have good knowledge of contraceptives, and accessibility is satisfactory. The following contraceptives are readily available and commonly used: oral contraceptives (including progesterone-only pills), condoms, IUDs, hormone implant sticks, diaphragms, and oral postcoital contraceptives. High-quality condoms can be purchased at pharmacies, drugstores, supermarkets, gas stations, and from vending machines in many public toilets. In some bars and nightclubs, they are available for free, but normally one has to pay. Since July 2001, postcoital contraceptives ("emergency pills") are sold at pharmacies without a prescription. Subsequently, an increase in use has been detected and by early 2003, around 3,500 therapeutic doses were purchased every month.

No credible statistics exist regarding the use of contraceptives in Denmark, but from sales figures we know that around one third of fertile Danish women use oral contraceptives. Almost half of 20- to 24-year-olds use oral contraceptives. In a representative survey study among adolescents, more than two thirds of respondents used a condom at their coital debut, whereas 14% used contraceptive pills. Sadly, one quarter of youngsters did not use any kind of contraception at their first sexual intercourse-and 43% of sexually experienced boys deemed condoms unpleasant or difficult to use. Moreover, a quarter of sexually experiences girls had used emergency contraceptives at least once (Rasmussen 1999). IUDs and diaphragms are rarely employed by young women, and the general use of IUDs has been declining during recent years. Natural family planning methods are seldom used by youngsters.

If a woman wants personal (prescription) contraception, she must consult her general practitioner (Denmark has a GP for every 2,000 people) or go to a family planning clinic in one of the major cities. Counseling on contraceptive issues is an integrated part of the general health service, but contraceptive devices have to be paid for. Furthermore, Danes aged 25 or more can undergo a sterilization free of charge. Counseling, though, is mandatory prior to surgery. In 1999, 5,470 males and 5,370 females underwent sterilization (2 to 3 per 1,000 inhabitants).

Since 1966, youngsters who want medical counseling about contraceptives do not need the consent of their parents, and any GP can be approached anonymously and free of charge. In addition to obligatory sex education in schools, information about contraceptives are available through leaflets, women's magazines, telephone hotlines, and counseling on the Internet (Graugaard 1998). (See also the end of Section 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents.)

#### **B/C.** Abortion and Teenage Pregnancies

The first bill legalizing abortion was passed by the Danish Parliament in 1939. This legalized abortion on tightly regulated medical or social grounds. A second bill was passed in 1971. This law allowed women over age 38 to have an abortion before the end of the 12th gestational week. Younger women who had more than four children under the age of 18, or presented serious medical or social issues, could also have an abortion before the end of the 12th gestational week. These rather restrictive laws forced many women to give birth to children that they could not manage, and for decades, a black market for illegal (and often hazardous) abortion flourished. It is estimated that some 18,000 illegal abortions were carried out annually during the 1950s.

On October 1, 1973, the Danish Parliament legalized abortion before the end of 12th gestational week. After this time, women can still obtain an abortion, but her application now has to be approved by a regional abortion council consisting of a gynecologist, a psychiatrist, and a lawyer. Dispensations are routinely given on medical, social, and psychological grounds. However, legal abortion after gestational week 20 to 22 is rarely approved. Only 2% to 3% of abortions take place after week 12. Adolescents below the age of 18 must have their parents' consent in order to apply for an abortion. Dispensations are sometimes given by the councils (usually on social grounds). All council decisions can be brought before a board of appeal.

Legal abortion must take place at a public hospital and is free of charge. A doctor can refuse to perform abortions on personal ethical grounds, but in practice this rarely happens. Medicinal (mefipristone or RU-486) abortions have been available at major hospitals for a couple of years and currently make up one third of all cases. Abortions are generally accepted and taken for granted, and a survey from 1995 established that 95% of 18- to 44-year-old Danes consider induced abortion before the end of the 12th gestational week a basic human right (Norup 1997). Religious groups regularly protest against the current legislation, but although a prolife-inspired association exists (Retten til Liv [The Right to Life]), rabid abortion opponents are marginal and seldom heard of. Only one political party (the Christian Democrats, currently holding four of 179 seats in the Parliament) opposes legal abortion.

The number of abortions peaked in 1975 at 27,884, and since then, it has gradually decreased. In 2000, a total of 15,681 women had a legal abortion, a fifth of the total number of known pregnancies. The same year, 1,954 women between ages 15 and 19 had an abortion (abortion rate 14.3 compared to 12.5 in total). The relatively highest number of

abortions is seen among 20- to 24-year-olds (abortion rate 19.9), whereas the abortion rate is around 18 for women aged 25 to 34. The abortion rate is predictably higher among urban women.

The number of teenage pregnancies in Denmark is relatively low, supposedly because of sex education in schools, counseling measures, and availability of contraceptives. Very few pregnant teenage girls want to carry through with the pregnancy, so a majority of these choose to have an abortion. In 2000, 216 women between ages 15 and 19 gave birth to a child, while 1,954 had an abortion. Among sexually experienced teenage girls, around 7% reported to have had an induced abortion (Rasmussen 1999). This pattern is seemingly different among second-generation ethnic minorities, who typically have their first child at a slightly younger age.

#### **D.** Population and Family Planning

During the "baby boom" of the 1960s and 1970s, the population increase in Denmark was around 40,000 per annum. In the 1980s, however, it was just a few thousand. Thus, from 1965 to 1985, the number of newborns went down from 85,796 to 53,749. In 2000, 67,081 live babies were born and the population growth was 18,593. In 1800, the population of Denmark was a little less than one million, while it is estimated that there will be 6.2 million Danes by year 2040.

Currently, Danish women have their first child at an average age of 27 years, and on the average, every woman has 1.73 children. In the postwar decades, it was common for women to have their first child between ages 23 and 25, or younger. The current marked postponement is mainly thought to be because of socioeconomic circumstances (better contraceptives, legal abortion, educational changes, and gender equality), but a possible deterioration of the fertility has also been speculated to be of importance (Jensen 2002). In most families, both parents work and the majority of Danish preschool children are in daycare institutions. Family planning is encouraged by free access to counseling on contraceptives, and both sterilization and legal abortion are free of charge. All families with children under the age of 18 receive a government paycheck four times a year.

The Danish Family Planning Association (Foreningen Sex & Samfund) was founded in 1956 by Dr. Agnete Braestrup (1909-1992), and today it conceives itself as a "watchdog" of sexual and reproductive rights in Denmark and abroad. The purpose of the association is to sustain and enhance sexual possibilities and well-being for individuals of all ages and backgrounds, and domestically, STDs, contraceptives, and sex education in schools are among its top priorities. The Danish Family Planning Association runs a telephone hotline and a website targeted at adolescents (www.sexlinien.dk). Moreover, the association hosts a database on abortion and contraceptives (www.abortnet.dk), and a clinic offering anonymous and free counseling for Copenhageners. An educational service for school classes is also provided. Over the years, the association has published various information materials in different languages (i.e., Turkish and Arabic), in addition to books on sexual counseling and sex education. Since it foundation, the Danish FPA has been an active member of the International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF), and it currently conducts and supervises a number of projects in the developing world.

#### E. Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights

Denmark has officially participated in all United Nations' conferences on population and development since Teheran 1968. At the International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD) in Cairo in 1994, Denmark supported the Program of Action and sympathized strongly with the shift from traditional family planning to more comprehensive notions of sexual and reproductive health and rights. Traditionally, Denmark has been a major donor behind UNFPA and IPPF, and though recently struck by major domestic cutbacks, the governmental aid organization (DANIDA) funds extensive developing programs in the Third World. A number of these aim specifically at the empowerment of women. Unfortunately, there is much less focus on the followup of the ICPD's Program of Action today than in 1994. In general, HIV/AIDS has gotten a much higher priority than more-basic themes of sexual and reproductive health and rights. There is still a lot to do.

### 10. Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS

#### CHRISTIAN GRAUGAARD

#### A/B. Basic Figures

The incidence of classic sex diseases has been rapidly declining during the second part of the 20th century: Syphilis is hardly ever seen (51 cases in 2001), whereas the number of gonorrhea cases has decreased from over 10,000 in 1983 to just 309 in 2001. When it comes to chlamydia and venereal warts, however, numbers are considerably more worrisome: It is estimated that one fifth of sexually active adolescents are infected with HPV, and the number of diagnosed chlamydia cases has been on the rise for several years. The incidence of the latter was 283 per 100,000 in 2001, and out of 15,150 annually reported cases, two thirds concerned patients aged 15 to 24. It is estimated that 7% of sexually active youngsters currently have a chlamydial infection. (See also Section 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents.)

Like other European countries, Denmark was struck by the first AIDS cases in the early 1980s. Initially, an uncontrolled epidemic was feared, but although more extensive than in neighboring Sweden and Norway (Amundsen 2000), the spread of HIV has remained modest over the years. By June 2002, a total of 3,335 Danes had been diagnosed with HIV, and around 2,500 persons were then receiving treatment at one of five Danish HIV centers. Estimates show that the prevalence of HIV in the general population is 0.1% (0.03% among heterosexuals, 4.8% among homosexuals) (Smith 2003). In 2000, the overall incidence of HIV was 4.8 per 100,000 and in 2001, a total of 304 persons (213 males, 91 females) were diagnosed with HIV. Half of the newly diagnosed were aged 29 to 39, and nearly half resided in the greater Copenhagen area. In 2000, the annual HIV incidence here was 15.5 per 100,000, while it was below 5 per 100,000 in most rural areas. One third of the infected persons were men having sex with men, whereas almost half were infected heterosexually. The remainder caught the disease through intravenous drug abuse, blood transfusion, or from an infected mother. Slightly more than one third of newly infected persons were emigrants (especially from Eastern and Central Africa). One third of heterosexually infected persons contracted the disease abroad. The number of infected persons below the age of 25 has been declining between 1990 and 1999. In 2001, the median age at diagnosis was 37 and 29 for males and females, respectively.

In 1874, it became legally mandatory for venereal patients to seek medical treatment, and throughout the 20th century more or less restrictive laws sought to regulate the behavior and civil rights of persons infected with STDs. In 1988, however, the legislation on STD was completely abolished and Denmark became the only country in the world to base examination, treatment, and partner notification entirely on mutual trust between patient and doctor. Thus, full anonymity exists regarding STD and HIV/AIDS, the rationality of which is intermittently debated. Following a vivid public discussion, the Parliament in 1994 made it punishable for "known" HIV-positives to deliberately have unprotected sex.

HIV testing in Denmark is anonymous and free of charge and can be performed either by the family physician or at a public Venereal Clinic. In 2000, a total of 134,116 tests were performed. A central surveillance system exists for both STDs and HIV/AIDS, but registration is strictly anonymous (Smith 2003). Since the mid-1980s, several HIV campaigns have been launched by the central health authorities, and contrary to some European countries, it has been paramount to avoid the fear factor in favor of relaxed and matter-of-factly information—*not* emphasizing sexual abstinence, but focusing on thoughtfulness and the joys of "safe sex" (Wielandt 1993).

[Update 2002: UNAIDS Epidemiological Assessment: By the end of 2001, the cumulative total of 3,255 known cases of HIV infection was reported. An anonymous HIV case-reporting system was implemented in August 1990. Data collection includes information on risk behavior, previous testing and results, and on nationality. The number of HIV tests conducted are reported monthly. No routine screening programs exist except for blood donors. The annual number of voluntary tests done is around 130,000 (2.5% of population) and cross-sectional studies have shown that the rate of retesting is relatively high and increasing. The number of persons below 30 years of age seeking testing is high as well.

[All data indicate that HIV-incidence has been stable for many years, with an overall annual incidence of around 230 (4.3 per 100,000), 2.2 per 100,000 among men who have sex with men, 180 per 100,000 among injection drug users, and 2 per 100,000 among heterosexuals. However, because of the decreasing AIDS-morbidity and -mortality resulting from HAART, the number of people living with HIV is increasing, and reached the highest number ever by the end of 2001, with an estimate of 15 per 100,000 population. The infectious burden in Danish society is estimated to be increasing, although the annual HIV incidence is unknown and very difficult to estimate with the existing surveillance tools.

[Cross-sectional studies on knowledge, attitude, and behavior among men who have sex with men have been conducted since 2000. The first results indicate that many of them were still practicing unsafe sex that may expose them to HIV. Such results may have great implications for prevention work.

[Incidence of syphilis has been fairly low for many years, while the incidence of gonorrhea has decreased since the mid-1980s. But there was a slight increase in the last few years, mainly among men. The annual incidence of chlamydia has not changed in recent years and is still relatively high; it is highest among young women age 20-24, with an annual incidence of around 2.2%.

[The estimated number of adults and children living with HIV/AIDS on January 1, 2002, were:

Adults ages 15-49:	3,800 (rate: 0.2%)
Women ages 15-49:	770
Children ages 0-15:	< 100

[An estimated less than 100 adults and children died of AIDS during 2001.

[No estimate is available for the number of Danish children who had lost one or both parents to AIDS and were under age 15 at the end of 2001. (*End of update by the Editors*)]

#### C. Sex Education and Legal Measures

Over the years, mandatory sex education in elementary schools has been tentatively expanded and improved, and surveys among Danish adolescents have continuously revealed a general high level of knowledge and an overall satisfaction with AIDS-education in schools (Rasmussen 1999; Krasnik 1990). However, around one fourth of youngsters still have sex the first time without using any contraception (see Section 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents). A state-funded AIDS hotline was launched in 1986, and in 2002, it received more than 9,000 calls. At the Adolescent Sexuality Hot-Line (run by the Danish Family Planning Association), around 12% of callers inquired on STD and HIV/AIDS related issues.

As in other countries, several organizations and services are specifically targeted at HIV-positive persons. These are increasing in number because of recent advances in antiviral treatment (and subsequent survival). Thus, in 1995, 43 per million inhabitants died of AIDS, compared with just 5 per million in 1998. The World AIDS Day (December 1) is solemnized in major Danish cities, but contrary to the USA, no Act Up movement exists.

### 11. Sexual Dysfunctions, Counseling, and Therapies

GERD WINTHER

#### A. Availability of Sexological Counseling

Despite the fact that Scandinavia is often considered to be among the most sexually liberated countries in the world (Graugaard 1997; Rasmussen 1996; Westrup 1993), a fair share of Danes will experience sexual problems of some kind during their lifetime. Unfortunately, only few valid studies have been carried out concerning sexual problems, but some useful cohort studies exist (see Section 5, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors). In these studies, the prevalence of self-assessed sexual problems in various age cohorts was reported to be between 5% and 22%, and one might suspect the frequency of unreported sexual troubles to be substantial.

Since the inter-war period, the Danish Parliament has discussed the possibility of creating public sexological clinics, but it took almost 50 years before the first one was established in 1986 at the University Hospital of Copenhagen (Rigshospitalet) (Hertoft 1991; Spanager 1987). As yet, this is the only clinic of its kind, although it was originally intended that similar clinics should be opened in the cities of Odense and Aarhus. A few other hospitals in Denmark provide minor sexological services free of charge. To some degree, general practitioners offer free psychological counseling to their patients, but only a slight minority of Danish GPs have any formal sexological training. Counseling on STDs and contraceptive issues, however, is almost completely carried out by the family physician. Furthermore, a range of private or semi-private initiatives exist: A nationwide telephone hotline and a counseling clinic are being run by the Danish Family Planning Association, and various sexual subcultures (i.e., homosexuals and sadomasochists) offer free and anonymous counseling, personally or by phone or the Internet. The availability of sexological treatment is considerably better in the metropolitan areas of Copenhagen, Odense, and Aarhus than in more-rural districts of Denmark.

As of early 2003, around 200 Danish sexologists are unionized in the Danish Association for Clinical Sexology (DACS), which offers a multidisciplinary environment for doctors, nurses, psychologists, social workers, midwifes, physiotherapists, and occupational therapists. Some members are in private practice, while others work part-time with clinical, theoretical, and/or didactic sexology. DACS was founded in 1981 at a Copenhagen meeting of the Nordic Association for Clinical Sexology (NACS) (Jensen 1994). More than 400 people have been members of DACS since its foundation. The aims of DACS are to make sexological services more readily available in Denmark, to train professionals, and to provide them with a competent sexological forum through postgraduate courses and seminars, a scientific journal, and annual Nordic meetings (besides Denmark, NACS currently consists of Sweden, Norway, Finland, Iceland, and Estonia, a recent new member).

#### **B.** Views on Sexual Dysfunction

The Danish healthcare system uses the WHO's ICD diagnosis system, but in the middle of the 1970s, when Dr. Preben Hertoft's team began treating people with sexual dysfunctions at the University Hospital of Copenhagen, a supplementary diagnostic system was developed, inspired by Helen Singer Kaplan's and Masters & Johnson's theoretical framework and diagnostic taxonomy (Winther 1990; 1982; Møhl 1988). During the 1970s, the most common sexual problems were female orgasmic dysfunction (61%) and male erective difficulties (73%) (Spanager 1987; Winther 1982). Throughout the 1980s and 1990s, the situation gradually changed, and a growing number of patients of both sexes now presented various desire problems. A much lower percentage (about 20%) was now women with orgasmic problems, while the percentage of men with erectile dysfunction remained about the same. Cases of premature ejaculation, on the other hand, were far fewer than in the 1970s, and today many of those treated for this problem are born outside of Denmark (Faber 1991). The spectrum of diagnoses and therapeutic procedures outside the Sexological Clinic is unknown. (See also the end of Sections 5B, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adults, and 5C, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Sexual Attitudes and Behavior of Elderly Danes.)

Since the early days of modern Danish clinical sexology, the main therapeutic approach has been psychodynamic, especially inspired by the concepts and procedures of Helen Kaplan, supplemented by behavioral instructions ad modum Masters and Johnson. Treatments are preferably based on holistic biopsychosocial principles. From the very beginning of sexual dysfunction treatment in couples, marital dynamics have been an integral part of therapy and counseling. The Danish language has a word for the integration of marital and sex therapy, namely samlivsterapi ("cohabitation therapy"), which indicates that the total life situation of the couple is focused upon, rather than just their sexuality. Outside the academic world, private "sexological" services of every kind abound-from Tantric techniques to body-centered therapy. Moreover, a few urologists specialize in erectile dysfunction. Just one or two plastic surgeons offer penile augmentation surgery, thus genital reconstruction treatment is scarce and generally frowned upon by professionals.

#### C. Sexological Training and Certification

Since 1972, voluntary sexological courses for medical students have been provided at the University of Copenhagen—originally lasting for one week, but later divided in two separate courses (Hertoft 1992; Wagner 1976). Until 1995, the medical school at the University of Aarhus (Jutland) also offered voluntary courses, while the medical school at the University of Odense (Funen) has had a mandatory sexology course since the late 1980s. Preben Hertoft wrote the first Danish textbook of clinical sexology in 1976 (third edition 1987), and this is still widely used. Sexology is a voluntary elective part of the training to become a general practitioner.

Starting in the late 1960s, psychology students at the University of Copenhagen had access to sexological lectures by Inge and Sten Hegeler (Hegeler 1963), and voluntary courses of basic sexology are still a part of the curricula at the Faculty of Psychology in Copenhagen. Furthermore, several institutions of higher education offer intermittent sexological courses, though a certain decline has sadly been detected over the past ten years. Educators and social workers dealing with disabled or mentally handicapped people typically have to pay for sexological training themselves. However, voluntary postgraduate training is sometimes offered free of charge by various Danish counties (Buttenschon 1994).

DACS has provided postgraduate therapy and counseling courses since 1982. Around 250 postgraduate students have completed such courses as of early 2003. In 2001, NACS passed a joint agreement on common rules for certification in clinical sexology and in sexual counseling (Fugl-Meyer 2001). Since then, DACS has launched a three-step postgraduate education (Basic Sexology, Clinical Sexology I, and Clinical Sexology II), which meets the inter-Nordic demands and is equivalent to two years of full-time university studies. Before achieving authorization in Clinical Sexology, students have to go through a formal psychotherapeutic education. A specialist board under DACS assesses all applications for authorization, and these later must be confirmed by a similar board under NACS. Finally, the student is authorized as Specialist in Sexological Counseling or Specialist in Clinical Sexology.

#### 12. Sex Research and Advanced Professional Education

LENE FALGAARD EPLOV, ANNAMARIA GIRALDI, and CHRISTIAN GRAUGAARD

#### A. Epidemiological Sex Research

Epidemiological sex research in Denmark is scarce despite the fact that conditions for exactly this kind of research are optimal: Every Dane is assigned a 10-digit civil registration number that follows the person lifelong, making register studies and prospective designs highly favorable. Furthermore, the population is small and homogeneous, and national registers of all sorts virtually abound.

Although the amount of epidemiological sex research in Denmark is not impressive, it all started out quite well. When Alfred C. Kinsey made his revolutionary research in the United States, the Danish psychiatrist Kirsten Auken (1953) interviewed 315 young Danish women about their sexual lives. Subsequently, Preben Hertoft (1968) studied the sexual lives of young Danish men. Inspired by the methodology of Shere Hite, Temte (1984, 1983) published two surveys in the early 1980s based on questionnaires distributed by a "word of mouth method." Although historically interesting, these studies do not meet strict epidemiological standards.

Moreover, a long Danish tradition exists as to the sexual attitudes and behavior of adolescents (see Section 5A, Interpersonal Heterosexual Behaviors, Adolescents), and this is naturally reflected in research. A few studies are especially worth mentioning:

- Three representative studies among pupils in 9th grade in a municipality in Jutland (Boelskifte 2002ab; Rasmussen 1994, 1987).
- A study among all pupils in the 8th, 9th, and 10th grades, in high schools, and similar youth education settings in Copenhagen (Rasmussen 1991).

- A nationwide study among adolescents (Rasmussen 1999).
- Two nationwide studies concerning risk behavior in relation to HIV/AIDS (Melbye 1992; Schmidt 1989ab).
- A longitudinal cohort study (The Glostrup Population Study) among adult Danes living in suburban Copenhagen (Eplov 2002abc; Fog 1994; Lendorf 1994; Solstad 1993ab; Garde 1980).

To picture the full scope of sexological epidemiological research in Denmark, a comprehensive review was conducted in 2002 (Eplov 2002c). Altogether, it was possible to identify 49 population studies, 34 of which were found to be representative. Among these, 14 had adolescents as a target group, and in six studies, the aim was to examine sexual behavior of people under the age of 30. Only 10 out of the 34 studies were nationwide, and out of these, six dealt with adolescents. Out of the remaining four studies, three examined risk behavior in relation to AIDS, one study only included men and one study studied mixed Danish/Swedish material. The last study only included five questions about sex.

In sum, it must be emphasized that additional epidemiological sexological research is needed in order to obtain a thorough picture of the sexual lifestyles of Danes. Thus, a comprehensive, representative population survey covering issues of sexual desire, activity, behavior, dysfunctions, and satisfaction is still lacking.

#### **B.** Biomedical Sex Research

In Denmark, a long research tradition exists on reproductive physiology, andrology, urology, and sexology. In the area of male and female genital physiology, one of the pioneers is Dr. Gorm Wagner, who for decades was affiliated with the University of Copenhagen. In females, Wagner's research has focused on vaginal function and the changes during orgasm. This work was carried out in collaboration with Roy Levin from Great Britain. Wagner and Levin developed new methods to measure vaginal blood flow and lubrication, and in numerous articles they have described the mechanism underlying vaginal lubrication (Levin 1985; Wagner 1978). Their work has added tremendous insight into the physiological function of the vagina. In collaboration with a Danish gynecologist, Bent Ottesen, the research was expanded to cover the effect of various hormones, especially Vasoactive Intestinal Polypeptide (VIP) and its possible sexual role and distribution along the genital tract (Ottesen 1987, 1983).

Wagner has also been a pioneer in the area of male sexual function, especially erectile function and dysfunction. He has developed new methods to evaluate erectile function, in addition to research on various aspects of penile surgery and pharmacological agents. Much of this work was done in collaboration with several other prominent Danish researchers, i.e., Thomas Gerstenberg, Anders Uhrenholdt, Jorgen Ebbehoj, Peter Metz, and Giles Brindley from the UK. Over the years, the work done by these researchers has added tremendously to the understanding of erectile mechanisms (Wagner 1989, 1981; Ebbehoj 1985, 1974; Metz 1983). Gorm Wagner was one of the founders of the International Society of Impotence Research (ISIR) and the *Journal of Impotence Research*.

In the field of andrology and reproductive medicine, Niels E. Skakkebaek at the University Hospital of Copenhagen (Rigshospitalet) is one of the leading scientists. His department works in several areas, but especially the investigation of prenatal environmental exposures in testicular cancer and semen quality has attracted international attention during recent years. Skakkebaek's team has shown a low and decreasing sperm quality in Danish men (Auger 2001; Andersen 2000) and linked this to the recent decline in fertility rates in the industrialized world (Jensen 2002).

Fin Biering-Sorensen and Jens Sonksen have done extensive work on men with spinal cord injury, describing their sexual function and developing new methods to treat their erectile and ejaculatory dysfunction. The latter is of great importance in order to prevent infertility in this group of often younger men (Biering-Sorensen 2001).

Finally, an important research area in Denmark is the treatment of torture victims suffering from post-traumatic somatic and psychosexual problems (Lunde 1990; Larsen 1987). ETICA (Treatment Centre for Traumatised Refugees, Migrants, and Danes) offers treatment to torture victims and also participates in education, counseling, supervision, and research. One of their priorities is research on sexual torture.

#### C. Humanistic Sex Research

As elsewhere in Europe, scientific sex studies were originally dominated by a biological discourse, and during the inter-war period, Danish investigators were among the pioneers of sex hormonal research (see Section 6A, Homoerotic, Homosexual, and Bisexual Behaviors, A Brief Historical View). In the post-Kinsey years, however, new perspectives on sexual behavior and interactions gradually came about, and in 1953, Kirsten Auken published an important thesis on the sexual lives of female adolescents (Auken 1953). Auken was openly inspired by Alfred Kinsey's reports and met with her acclaimed American colleague during his roundtrip of Scandinavia in 1955. Until her premature death in 1968, Auken maintained a sociological/humanistic angle towards sex research issues, and a number of her younger protégés published significant sexological work in the years following her dissertation. Not least, Preben Hertoft (1968) published a doctoral thesis on the sexuality of adolescent Danish men.

In the early 1970s, new approaches to body, sexuality, gender, and sexology emerged and, stimulated by (post) feministic and Foucaultian thinking, numerous constructionist studies of variable form and quality have occurred. Among the prominent sex researchers in the field of sociology and human science are the late criminologist Berl Kutchinsky (the societal effects of pornography), folklorist Karin Lützen (lesbian studies), historian Wilhelm von Rosen (gay studies), historian Bente Rosenbeck (female studies), historian Hans Bonde (male studies), historian Morten Thing (history of pornography), and art historian Rune Gade (aesthetics of pornography). Foremost, sociologist Henning Bech has published extensively on masculinity and male homosexuality (Bech 1999ab, 1998ab, 1997). During recent years, several queer-study-oriented scholars have emerged, and literary historian Dag Heede (2001) has launched an ambitious "queering" of the Danish literary canon-from Hans Christian Andersen to Isak Dinesen (Karen Blixen), from Nobel Prize-winning Johannes V. Jensen to contemporary Klaus Rifbjerg.

#### **D.** Sexological Organizations

Denmark has a good number of special-interest sexological organizations. Four of the more important ones are:

Danish Association for Clinical Sexology (DACS), Gronhojgaardsvej 147, DK-2630 Taastrup, Denmark; tel./ fax: 45/43 99 66 19; email: dacs@klinisksexologi.dk; www .klinisksexologi.dk.

The Danish Family Planning Association, Skindergade 28, DK-1159, Copenhagen K, Denmark; tel.: 45/33 93 10 10; fax: 45/33 93 10 09; email: danish-fpa@sexogsamfund .dk; www.sexogsamfund.dk.

Danish National Association of Gays and Lesbians, Teglgaardsstraede 13, DK-1007 Copenhagen K, Denmark; tel.: 45/33 13 19 48; email: lbl@lbl.dk; www.lbl.dk.

SMil (sadomasochists), P.B. 691, DK-2200 Copenhagen N, Denmark; tel.: 45/35 83 55 69; email: info.kbh@ sado.dk; www.sado.dk.

#### References and Suggested Readings

- Albaek, E. 1998. Frisindets graenser: Homoseksuelle mellem moralske dilemmaer og politiske hensyn [The limits of the "free spirit": Homosexuals between moral dilemmas and political considerations]. *Politica*, 30:405-422.
- Amundsen, E. J., A. A. Aalen, H. Stigum, et al. 2000. Backcalculation based on HIV and AIDS registers in Denmark, Norway and Sweden 1977-95 among homosexual men: Estimation of absolute rates, incidence rates and prevalence of HIV. *Journal of Epidemiological Biostatistics*, 5: 233-243.
- Andersen, A. G., T. K. Jensen, E. Carlsen, N. Jorgensen, A. M. Andersson, T. Krarup, N. Keiding, & N. E. Skakkebaek. 2000. High frequency of sub-optimal semen quality in an unselected population of young men. *Human Reproduction*, 15:366-372.
- Auger, J., F. Eustache, A. G. Andersen, D. S. Irvine, N. Jorgensen, N. E. Skakkebaek, J. Suominen, J. Toppari, M. Vierula, & P. Jouannet. 2001. Sperm morphological defects related to environment, lifestyle and medical history of 1001 male partners of pregnant women from four European cities. *Human Reproduction*, 16:2710-2717.
- Auken, K. 1953. Undersogelser over unge kvinders sexuelle adfaerd [Studies on young women's sexual conduct]. Rosenkilde og Bagger.
- Bech, H. 1997. *When men meet: Homosexuality and modernity.* Polity Press.
- Bech, H. 1998a. CITYSEX: Representing lust in public. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 15:215-241.
- Bech, H. 1998b. A dung beetle in distress: Hans Christian Andersen meets Karl Maria Kertbeny, Geneva, 1860: Some notes on the archaeology of homosexuality and the importance of tuning. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 35:139-161.
- Bech, H. 1999a. After the closet. Sexualities, 2:343-346.
- Bech, H. 1999b. Leisure pursuits: Studies in modernity, masculinity, homosexuality and late modernity. A survey of some results. University of Copenhagen.
- Biering-Sorensen, F., & J. Sonksen. 2001. Sexual function in spinal cord lesioned men. *Spinal Cord*, 39:455-470.
- Boelskifte, J., P. M. Saval, & K. L. Rasmussen. 2002a. Unges viden om praevention og seksualitet gennem 14 aar [Sexual knowledge and sources of information in ninth grade pupils in the municipality of Viborg over the last fourteen years]. Ugeskr Laeger, 164:3203-3206.
- Boelskifte. J, P. M. Saval, & K. L. Rasmussen. 2002b. Seksuel aktivitet og praeventionsvaner blandt unge gennem 14 aar [Sexual activity and contraception habits in ninth grade pupils in the municipality of Viborg during the last fourteen years]. Ugeskr Laeger, 164:3207-3212.
- Buttenschon, J. 1994. Sexuality and handicap. Nordisk Sexologi, 12:137-145.
- CIA. 2002 (January). *The world factbook 2002*. Washington, DC: Central Intelligence Agency. Available: http://www .cia.gov/cia/publications/factbook/index.html
- Curtis, T., F. B. Larsen, K. Helweg-Larsen, & P. Bjerregaard. 2002. Violence, sexual abuse and health in Greenland. *In*ternational Journal of Circumpolar Health, 61:110-122.
- Danmarks Statistik. 2002. Befolkningens bevaegelser 2001. [Vital statistics 2001]. Danmarks Statistik.
- Ebbehoj, J. 1974. A new operation for priapism. Scandinavian Journal of Plastic Reconstructive Surgery, 6:241-242.
- Ebbehoj, J., & P. Metz. 1985. New operation for "krummerik" (penile curvature). Urology, 26:76-78.

- Eplov, L. F., T. Weigner, & K. Solstad. 2002a. Danske 60aarige maends seksualliv [The sexual life of 60-year-old Danish men]. Ugeskr Laeger, 164:4819-4823.
- Eplov, L. F., A. Koster, & A. Garde. 2002b. Noegen ude paa graesplaenen-60-aarige danske kvinders seksuelle liv [Naked on the lawn. The sexual life of 60-year-old Danish women]. Ugeskr Laeger, 164:4815-4819.
- Eplov, L. F., K. Garde, & A. Koster. 2002c. Danskernes seksualliv belyst ved befolkningsundersogelser [The sexual life of Danes illuminated by population studies]. Ugeskr Laeger, 164:4745-4752.
- Eplov, L. F. 2002d. Seksualitet–Belyst teoretisk og ved en prospektiv befolkningsundersogelse i Kobenhavns Amt med speciel fokus paa aldringens og personlighedstraeks betydning. [Sexuality–Examined theoretically and with a prospective population study in Copenhagen County, specially focusing on the significance of aging and personality traits]. University of Copenhagen.
- Faber B. 1991. Socio-cultural differences in presentation of treatment of ejaculatio praecox. Paper presented at 10th World Congress for Sexology, Amsterdam.
- Frisch, M., E. Smith, A. Grulich, & C. Johansen. 2003 (In press). Cancer in a population-based cohort of men and women in registered homosexual partnerships. *American Journal of Epidemiology*.
- Fog, E., A. Koster, G. K. Larsen, K. Garde, & I. Lunde. 1994. Female sexuality in various Danish general population agecohorts. *Nordic Sexology*, 12:111-117.
- Fugl-Meyer, K. S., E. Almaas, E. Benestadt, et al. 2001. Nordic sexology education and authorisation. *Scandinavian Jour*nal of Sexology, 4:61-68.
- Garde, K., & I. Lunde. 1980. Female sexual behavior. A study in a random sample of 40-year-old women. *Maturitas*, 2: 225-240.
- Graugaard, C., 1997. Sex in Scandinavia–A guide to the essentials. Nordic Sexology, 15:65-74.
- Graugaard, C., & G. Winther. 1998. Sex counseling on the Internet. Scandinavian Journal of Sexology, 1:201-204.
- Graugaard, C. 2001. Sexleksikon–Fra abe til Aarestrup [Encyclopedia of sex–From Ape to Aarestrup]. Rosinante.
- Hansen, H., & O. L. Lykke. 1997. Treatment of dangerous sexual offenders in Denmark. *Journal of Forensic Psychology*, 8:1-199.
- Heede, D. 2001. Queering the queer: Herman Bang and the pleasures and dangers of allegorical readings. *Scandinavica*, 40: 11-40.
- Hegeler, I., & S. Hegeler. 1963. An ABZ of love. Medical Press of New York.
- Helweg-Larsen, K. 1985. The value of the medico-legal examination in sexual offences. *Forensic Science International*, 27:145-155.
- Helweg-Larsen, K. 2000. Seksuelle overgreb mod born i Danmark. Problemets omfang og karakter vurderet ud fra litteraturstudier og en raekke danske datakilder [Sexual assaults against Danish children. The proportions and character of the problem valued from literature studies and a number of Danish data sources]. Statens Institut for Folkesundhed.
- Hertoft, P. 1968. Undersogelser over unge maends seksuelle adfaerd viden og holdning [Studies on the sexual behavior, knowledge, and attitude of young men]. Akademisk Forlag.
- Hertoft, P. 1977. Nordic traditions of marriage: The betrothal system. In: J. Money & H. Musaph, eds., *Handbook of* sexology. Elsevier.
- Hertoft, P., & T. Sorensen. 1978. Transsexuality: Some remarks based on clinical experience. Ciba 99Foundation Symposium, 62:165-181.
- Hertoft, P. 1987. Klinisk sexology [Clinical sexology]. Munksgaard.
- Hertoft, P. 1989. Sexologisk opslagsbog [Sexological dictionary]. Hans Reitzels Forlag.
- Hertoft, P. 1991. Sexology in a sexual liberal country. Paper presented at the 10th World Congress of Sexology, Amsterdam.

- Hertoft, P. 1992. *Clinical sexology and postgraduate education in Denmark*. Paper presented at the First Congress of the European Federation of Sexology, Taormina.
- Jaeger, A. B., A. Gramkow, P. Sorensen, et al. 2000. Correlates of heterosexual behavior among 28-87 year olds in Denmark and Sweden, 1992-1998. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 29:91-106.
- Jensen, S. B. 1994. The sensate focus of Danish sexology. Nordic Sexology, 12:67-77.
- Jensen, T. K., E. Carlsen, N. Jorgensen, J. G. Berthelsen, N. Keiding, K. Christensen, J. H. Petersen, L. B. Knudsen, & N. E. Skakkebaek. 2002. Poor semen quality may contribute to recent decline in fertility rates. *Human Reproduction*, 17:1437-1440.
- Jorgensen, C. 1967. A personal autobiography. Bantam Books.
- Kristensen, E., & T. Lillebaek. 2000. Erfaringer fra samarbejde mellem behandlingsinstitutioner og justitsvaesen med hensyn til behandling af seksualkriminelle [Experience from a collaboration between treatment centres and the Department of Justice regarding treatment of sexual offenders]. In: S. Mossige, ed., *Personer som begaar seksuelle* overgreb mot barn [Persons committing sexual assaults against children] (pp. 125-134). TemaNord.
- Krasnik, A., & M. Wangel. 1990. AIDS and Danish adolescents–Knowledge, attitudes, and behavior relevant to the prevention of HIV-infection. *Danish Medical Bulletin*, 37: 275-279.
- Kutchinsky, B. 1973. The effect of easy availability of pornography on the incidence of sex crimes: The Danish experience. *Journal of Social Issues*, 3:163-181.
- Kutchinsky, B. 1989. Legalized pornography in Denmark. In: M. S. Kimmel, ed., *Men confronting pornography*. Crown Publishers.
- Kutchinsky, B. 1991. Pornography and rape: Theory and practice? Evidence from crime data in four countries where pornography is easily available. *International Journal of Law* and Psychology, 14:47-64.
- Larsen, H., & J. Pagaduan-Lopez. 1987. Stress-Tension Reduction in the treatment of sexually tortured women–an exploratory study. *Journal of Sex Marital Therapy*, 13: 210-218.
- Lendorf, A., L. Juncker, & P. Rosenkilde. 1994. Frequency of erectile dysfunction in a Danish subpopulation. *Nordic Sexology*, 12:118-124.
- Leth, I., B. Stenvig, & A. Pedersen. 1988. Seksuelle overgreb mod born og unge [Sexual assaults on children and adolescents]. *Nordic Psykology*, 40:383-393.
- Levin, R. J., & G. Wagner. 1985. Orgasm in women in the laboratory–Quantitative studies on duration, intensity, latency, and vaginal blood flow. *Archive of Sexual Behavior*, 14: 439-449.
- Lofstrom, J., ed. 1998. Scandinavian homosexualities: Essays on gay and lesbian studies. Harrington Park Press.
- Lunde, I., & J. Ortmann. 1990. Prevalence and sequelae of sexual torture. *Lancet*, 336:289-291.
- Metz, P., J. Ebbehoj, A. Uhrenholdt, & G. Wagner. 1983. Peyronie's disease and erectile failure. *Journal of Urology*, 130:1103-1104.
- Melbye, M., & R. J. Biggar. 1992. Interactions between persons at risk for AIDS and the general population in Denmark. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 135:593-602.
- Merrick, J., S. Asnaes, N. Michelsen, & M. J. Skov. 1985. Seksuelt misbrug af born. En deskriptiv undersogelse af intrafamiliaert seksuelt misbrug af born fra Kobenhavns kommune 1970-1984 [Sexual abuse of children. A study of intra-familial child sexual abuse in Copenhagen 1970-1984]. Ugeskr Laeger, 48:3932-3936.
- Meyerowitz, J. 2002. *How sex changed: A history of transsexuality in the United States.* Harvard University Press.
- Møhl, B., & G. Winther. 1988. Group therapy with single males with erectile difficulties. In: W. Eicher & G. Kockott, eds., *Sexology*. Springer Verlag.

- Møhl, B. 2002a. Seksualitet hos aeldre [Sexuality in old age]. Ugeskr Laeger, 164:4776-4779.
- Møhl, B. 2002b. Aeldre og seksualitet [Old age and sexuality]. In: C. Swane, L. Blaakilde, & K. Amstrup, eds., Gerontologi. Livet som gammel. [Gerontology. Life in old age]. Munksgaard.
- Nielsen, I. L., E. Fog, G. K. Larsen, J. Madsen, K. Garde, & J. Kelstrup. 1986a. 70-aarige kvinders seksuelle adfaerd, oplevelse, viden og holdning [Sexual behavior, experience, knowledge, and attitudes of 70-year-old women]. Ugeskr Laeger, 148:2863-2866.
- Nielsen, I. L., E. Fog, G. K. Larsen, J. Madsen, K. Garde, & J. Kelstrup. 1986b. 22-aarige kvinders seksuelle adfaerd, oplevelse, viden og holdning [Sexual behavior, experience, knowledge, and attitudes of 22 -year-old women]. Ugeskr Laeger, 148:2866-2869.
- Norup, M. 1977. Attitudes towards abortion in the Danish population. *Bioethics*, 11:439-449.
- Ortmann, J. 1980. The treatment of sexual offenders. Castration and antihormone therapy. *International Journal of Law Psychology*, 3:4-451.
- Ottesen, B., T. H. Gerstenberg, H. Ulrichsen, T. Manthorpe, J. Fahrenkrug, & G. Wagner. 1983. Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) increases vaginal blood flow and inhibits uterine smooth muscle activity in women. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 13:321-324.
- Ottesen, B., B. Pedersen, J. Nielsen, D. Dalgaard, G. Wagner, & J. Fahrenkrug. 1987. Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) provokes vaginal lubrication in normal women. *Peptides*, 8:797-800.
- Rasmussen, K. L., & M. Munk. 1987. Seksuel aktivitet og praeventionsvaner blandt unge [Sexual activity and contraceptive habits among adolescents]. Ugeskr Laeger, 149: 46-48.
- Rasmussen, K. L., & H. J. H. Knudsen. 1994. Skoleelevers viden om, behov for og brug af praevention for og efter AIDS-debatten [School pupils knowledge of, need for, and use of contraception before and after the AIDS-campaigns]. Ugeskr Laeger, 156:1447-1451.
- Rasmussen, N. 1996. Sexual and reproductive health and rights for youth. The Danish experience. The Danish Family Planning Association.
- Rasmussen, B. 1999. Ung 99. En seksuel profil [Young 99. A sexual profile]. Frederiksberg Kommune.
- Schmidt, K. W., A. Krasnik, E. Brendstrup, H. Zoffmann, & S. O. Larsen. 1989a. Attitudes towards HIV infection and sexual risk behavior. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 17:281-286.
- Schmidt, K. W., A. Krasnik, E. Brendstrup, H. Zoffmann, & S. O. Larsen. 1989b. Occurrence of sexual behavior related to the risk of HIV- infection. *Danish Medical Bulletin* 36:84-88.
- Smith, E. 2003. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Denmark: The challenges ahead. *Journal of Acquired Deficiency Syndrome*, 32 (Suppl.):S33-38.
- Solstad, K., & P. Hertoft. 1993a. Frequency of sexual problems and sexual dysfunction in middle-aged Danish men. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 22:51-58.
- Solstad, K., & M. Davidsen. 1993b. Sexual behavior and attitudes of Danish middle-aged men–Methodological considerations. *Maturitas*, 17:139-149.

- Sorensen, T., & P. Hertoft. 1982. Male and female transsexualism: The Danish experience with 37 patients. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 11:133-155.
- Spanager, B., & G. Winther. 1987. Presentation of the first year of the first Sexological Clinic in Denmark. Paper presented Eighth World Congress for Sexology in Heidelberg.
- Strange, M. 2002. Unge kraenkere [Young offenders]. Socialforskningsinstituttet.
- Sturup, G. K. 1968. Treatment of sexual offenders in Herstedvester Denmark: The rapists. *Acta Psychiatry Scandinavia*, (Suppl. 204):1-62.
- Sturup, G. K. 1971. Treatment of the sex offender. Castration: The total treatment. *International Psychiatry Clin.*, 8:175-196.
- Sturup, G. 1976. Male transsexuals: A long-term follow-up after sex reassignment operations. *Acta Psychiatry Scandina*via, 53:51-63.
- Temte, R. 1983. Seksualitet og kvinder. En slutrapport om kvindeundersogelsen [Sexuality and women. A final report from the female survey]. Uakademisk Forlag.
- Temte, R. 1984. Seksualitet og maend. En slutrapport om mandeundersogelsen [Sexuality and men. A final report from the male survey]. Uakademisk Forlag.
- UNAIDS. 2002. Epidemiological fact sheets by country. Geneva, Switzerland: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ AIDS (UNAIDS/WHO). Available: http://www.unaids.org/ hivaidsinfo/statistics/fact sheets/index en.htm.
- Ventegodt, S. 1996. Seksualitet og livskvalitet [Sexuality and the quality of life]. Ugeskr Laeger, 158:4299-4304.
- Ventegodt, S. 1998. Sex and the quality of life in Denmark. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 27:295-307.
- von Rosen, W. 1994. A short history of gay Denmark 1613-1989: The rise and the possibly happy end of the Danish homosexual. *Nordic Sexology*, 12:125-136.
- Wagner, G. 1976. Sexology: A new university discipline? British Journal of Sexual Medicine, 3:14.
- Wagner, G., & R. J. Levin. 1978. Oxygen tension of the vaginal surface during sexual stimulation in the human. *Fertility* and Sterility, 30:50-53.
- Wagner, G., & R. J. Levin. 1980. Effect of atropine and methylatropine on human vaginal blood flow, sexual arousal and climax. Acta Pharmacology & Toxicology, 46: 321-325.
- Wagner, G., & R. Green. 1981. Impotence–Physiological, psychological, surgical diagnosis and treatment. Plenum Press.
- Wagner G, T. Gerstenberg, R. J. Levin. 1989. Electrical activity of corpus cavernosum (EACC) during flaccidity and erection of the human penis. A new diagnostic method? *Journal* of Urology, 142:723-725.
- Westrup, A., & B. Kutchinsky. 1993. Healthy sex, healthy society: A view form Denmark. Nordisk Sexologi, 11:221-230.
- Wielandt, H. B. 1993. Have the AIDS campaigns changed the pattern of contraceptive usage among adolescents? Acta Obstetrics and Gynecology Scandinavia, 72:111-115.
- Winther, G., P. Hertoft, & S. B. Jensen. 1982. Some common problems of resistance in sex therapy. In: Z. Hoch, ed., *Sexology*. Excerpta Medica.
- Winther, G. 1990. *Sensate focus as a psychotherapeutic tool.* Paper presented at the Dutch-Danish Sexology Meeting, Amsterdam.

# Critical Acclaim for The Continuum Complete International Encyclopedia of Sexuality

## 1. The International Encyclopedia of Sexuality, Vols. 1-3 (Francoeur, 1997)

The World Association of Sexology, an international society of leading scholars and eighty professional organizations devoted to the study of human sexual behavior, has endorsed *The International Encyclopedia of Sexuality* as an important and unique contribution to our understanding and appreciation of the rich variety of human sexual attitudes, values, and behavior in cultures around the world.

Recipient of the "1997 Citation of Excellence for an outstanding reference in the field of sexology," awarded by the American Foundation for Gender and Genital Medicine and Science at the Thirteenth World Congress of Sexology, Valencia, Spain.

Recommended by *Library Journal* (October 1, 1997) to public and academic librarians looking to update their collections in the area of sexuality: "An extraordinary, highly valuable synthesis of information not available elsewhere. Here are in-depth reports on sex-related practices and culture in 32 countries on six continents, contributed by 135 sexologists worldwide.... For all academic and larger public collections."

Picked by *Choice* (Association of College & Research Libraries/American Library Association) as Best Reference Work and Outstanding Academic Book for 1997: "Although this encyclopedia is meant as a means of understanding human sexuality, it can also be used as a lens with which to view human culture in many of its other manifestations. . . . Considering coverage, organization, and authority, the comparatively low price is also notable. Recommended for

reference collections in universities, special collections, and public libraries."

"Most impressive, providing a wealth of good, solid information that may be used by a wide variety of professionals and students seeking information on cross-cultural patterns of sexual behavior . . . an invaluable, unique scholarly work that no library should be without."—*Contemporary Psychology* 

"... enables us to make transcultural comparisons of sexual attitudes and behaviours in a way no other modern book does.... Clinics and training organizations would do well to acquire copies for their libraries.... Individual therapists and researchers who like to have their own collection of key publications should certainly consider it."—*Sexual and Marital Therapy* (U.K.)

"... scholarly, straightforward, and tightly-organized format information about sexual beliefs and behaviors as they are currently practiced in 32 countries around the world.... The list of contributors... is a virtual who's who of scholars in sexual science."—*Choice* 

"... one of the most ambitious cross-cultural sex surveys ever undertaken. Some 135 sexologists worldwide describe sex-related practices and cultures in 32 different countries.... Best Reference Sources of 1997."—*Library Journal* 

"What separates this encyclopedia from past international sexuality books is its distinct dissimilarity to a 'guidebook to the sexual hotspots of the world.'... An impressive and important contribution to our understanding of sexuality in a global society.... fills a big gap in people's knowledge about sexual attitudes and behaviors."—Sexuality Information and Education Council of the United States (SIECUS)

"Truly important books on human sexuality can be counted on, perhaps, just one hand. *The International Encyclopedia of Sexuality* deserves special attention as an impressive accomplishment."—*Journal of Marriage and the Family* 

"... a landmark effort to cross-reference vast amounts of information about human sexual behaviors, customs, and cultural attitudes existing in the world. Never before has such a comprehensive undertaking been even remotely available to researchers, scholars, educators, and clinicians active in the field of human sexuality."—Sandra Cole, Professor of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Michigan Medical Center

# 2. The International Encyclopedia of Sexuality, Vol. 4 (Francoeur & Noonan, 2001)

"... a masterpiece of organization. The feat of successfully compiling so much information about so many countries into such a coherent and readable format defies significant negative criticism."—*Sexuality and Culture*, Paul Fedoroff, M.D., Co-Director, Sexual Behaviors Clinic Forensic Program, The Royal Ottawa Hospital, Ottawa, Canada

# 3. The Continuum Complete International Encyclopedia of Sexuality (Francoeur & Noonan, 2004)

"... [a] treasure trove.... This unique compilation of specialized knowledge is recommended for research collections in the social sciences... as well as a secondary source for cross-cultural research."—*Library Journal*, March 15, 2004, p. 64

"... a book that is truly historic, and in many ways comparable to the great sexological surveys of Havelock Ellis and Alfred Kinsey.... Many works of undeniable importance are intended to speak about human sexuality. But in this encyclopedia we hear the voices of a multitude of nations and cultures. With coverage of more than a quarter of the countries in the world, ... not only will the *Continuum Complete International Encyclopedia of Sexuality* remain a standard reference work for years to come, but it has raised the bar of sexological scholarship to a rigorous new level."—John Heidenry, editor, *The Week*, and author of *What Wild Ecstasy: The Rise and Fall of the Sexual Revolution* 

#### For more review excerpts, go to www.SexQuest.com/ccies/.